

# REGULATION AND BENEFIT MANUAL

Houseofficers and the University

This regulation and benefit manual covers individuals who are under contract with the Office of Graduate Medical Education. This includes trainees in all ACGME, ADA, and CAMPEP-accredited programs.



Graduate Medical Education at the University of New Mexico is conducted by the Health Sciences Center to ensure that this institution:

- Provides a critical part of the continuum of educational experiences for students engaged in medical education;
- Assists the State of New Mexico in meeting the statewide need for skilled and competent practicing physicians, as well as attempting to help meet work force needs regionally and nationally;
- Meets the accreditation standards for graduate medical education placed for the graduates of UNM SOM and assists in the professional and team training required of the entire health sciences center;
- Provides interdisciplinary graduate training experiences to those specialties that require them, e.g. Emergency Medicine, Family Medicine, Internal Medicine, and Pediatrics;
- Assures resident education improves the quality of patient care and patient safety;
- Encourages the continual review of current strategies in education and patient care through research and quality improvement endeavors that include residents and fellows in GME programs;
- Assures compliance with all regulation requirements for reimbursement by federal and state programs of educational expenses and other specific requirements are also met;
- Assures training programs provide educational experiences that are sensitive to the unique multicultural environment of New Mexico while meeting or exceeding the standards of professionalism

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

HOUSEOFFICERS AND THE UNIVERSITY	9
GME EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS	9
ACLS/BLS/PALS	9
ACLS CERTIFICATION	9
BLS CERTIFICATION	10
PALS CERTIFICATION	10
GME EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES/PROGRAMS	10
INSURANCE	12
COBRA COVERAGE	12
DENTAL INSURANCE	12
MANDATORY HEALTHCARE NOTICES	13
DISABILITY INSURANCE	13
HEALTH INSURANCE	13
LIFE INSURANCE AND ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT	14
PRE-TAX INSURANCE PREMIUM PLAN	14
PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE	14
VISION INSURANCE	15
WORKERS' COMPENSATION	15
LEAVE	15
ANNUAL LEAVE	16
PROGRAM DIRECTORS POLICY ON ANNUAL LEAVE FOR HOUSEOFFICERS	S16
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	17
CATASTROPHIC LEAVE	18
EDUCATIONAL LEAVE	18
HOLIDAYS	19
WELLNESS	19
ABSENCE — LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	19
FAMILY LEAVE	20

MATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE	20
MILITARY LEAVE	21
PROFESSIONAL LEAVE	21
SICK/HEALTH LEAVE	21
IMMUNIZATION/MEDICAL CLEARANCE	22
ANNUAL INFLUENZA VACCINATION	22
HEPATITIS B VACCINE/VARICELLA/MEASLES/INFLUENZA	22
MEDICAL CLEARANCE	23
HIV/HEPATITIS C/HEPATITIS B	23
TUBERCULOSIS TESTING/TST/N-95	24
MISCELLANEOUS BENEFITS	24
CALLROOMS	24
COMPUTER SERVICES	25
CONFIDENTIAL COUNSELING AND OTHER SUPPORT SERVICES	25
EMERGENCY LOANS	26
EMPLOYMENT VERIFICATION	27
FITNESS FACILITIES	27
FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS	27
FOOD SERVICE (MEALS) ON CALL/IN HOUSE	28
GME WELLNESS INITIATIVES	29
LACTATION STATIONS	29
LIVING QUARTERS	30
LOANS	30
MEDICAL EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS	30
MEDITATION ROOM	31
MILEAGE	31
PAGERS	32
PARKING	32
PAYROLL	33

PAYROLL ADVANCES	33
RELIGIOUS PRACTICES AND OBSERVATIONS	33
SAFETY/SECURITY	33
STUDENT LOAN DEFERMENTS	34
UNIFORMS	35
VETERANS EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE	35
403(b) PLAN	35
PROCEDURES	35
ACCESS TO FILES	35
ATTORNEY CONTACT (Attorneys Not Representing UNM)	36
BLOOD/BODY FLUID EXPOSURES AND INCIDENT REPORTING	36
BLOOD/BODY FLUID EXPOSURES (BFE)	36
INCIDENT REPORTING	37
COMPLAINTS/RESPONSIBILITY OF ASSOCIATE DEAN/GME	37
COMPLAINTS/LEARNER MISTREATMENT	38
DISASTER POLICY	40
FALSE CLAIMS ACT (Deficit Reduction Act)	42
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	42
HIPAA	45
HSC IDENTIFICATION	46
INFECTION CONTROL	46
MANDATED BEHAVIORAL ASSESSMENT AND COUNSELING	47
OSHA TRAINING	49
WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION	50
REQUIREMENTS	50
BOARD ELIGIBILITY	50
COMPLETION OF TRAINING	50
CONSENSUAL RELATIONSHIPS IN MEDICAL EDUCATION	50
CONSENSUAL RELATIONSHIPS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST	52

resident reduction — closure	52
DRUG SCREENING	53
educational activities	54
ELIGIBILITY	54
HOUSEOFFICER EXCLUSIONS FROM FEDERAL PROGRAMS (OIG/GSA)	54
FINGERPRINTING/BACKGROUND SCREEN/SECURITY	55
INSTITUTIONAL DEA NUMBER/PRESCRIPTION WRITING	55
LEVEL OF APPOINTMENT	56
LICENSURE	56
PLAGIARISM POLICY	57
PERSONNEL — BENEFITS	58
RESPECTFUL CAMPUS	58
SELECTION	59
TRANSFER POLICY	59
SCHEDULES	59
NATIONAL PROVIDER IDENTIFIER	60
USMLE & COMLEX	60
USMLE STEP III	60
STANDARDS, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND WORK ENVIRONMENT	60
DISABILITY ACCOMMODATIONS	61
DISCIPLINE OR DISMISSAL	61
DRUG FREE CAMPUS	62
DUTY HOURS	62
DUTY HOUR PROTOCOL	65
DUTY HOURS — FATIGUE	67
TAXI OR PROFESSIONAL RIDE SHARING SERVICES REIMBURSEMENT	67
EVALUATION	67
harassment policy	68
MOONLIGHTING	69

AAMC STATEMENT ON MOONLIGHTING BY HOUSEOFFICERS	70
NON COMPETITION CLAUSE (RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS)	71
NON-RENEWAL OF CONTRACT	71
PHYSICIAN IMPAIRMENT	71
INVESTIGATION AND DISPOSITION OF SUSPECTED IMPAIRMENT	72
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT	75
Professional attire	75
PROMOTION	75
REAPPOINTMENT	76
CERTIFICATION	76
HOUSEOFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES	76
SUPERVISION — HSC POLICY	78
GENERAL PROCEDURE	79
GRADUATED LEVELS OF SUPERVISION	82
HAND OFFS/TRANSFER OF PATIENT CARE	82
RESIDENT COUNCIL	82
VOLUNTEERING	82
WORK ENVIRONMENT	83
COMMITTEE OF INTERNS AND RESIDENTS	84

### **HOUSEOFFICERS AND THE UNIVERSITY**

The University of New Mexico, through the Office of the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education, contracts with the Houseofficers of the University of New Mexico School of Medicine training programs. All Houseofficers are required to have a current signed agreement on file in the Office of Graduate Medical Education before entering the University of New Mexico training program. Salary and fringe benefit coverage cannot be extended until a signed agreement is on file and appointment criteria have been met.

Houseofficers scheduled for duty who are unable to report (e.g., due to illness) will be responsible for informing the appropriate individual in the department and the specific rotation. If the Houseofficer is rotating at the VA, and the leave is for any extended length of time, the Houseofficer must sign in at the VA Human Resources. If this is not carried out, it may be necessary to charge this time to Leave Without Pay or a Departmental Account. Houseofficers failing to comply with the terms of their contracts may be suspended without pay until compliance is achieved or the contractual agreement with the University is terminated.

### **GME EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS**

#### ACLS/BLS/PALS

UNM HSC Houseofficers care for both adult and pediatric patients.

Interns are required to have appropriate training for medical emergencies prior to beginning residency, as noted below. Certification courses in ACLS and PALS are available in the BATCAVE. Fellows and off-schedule residents will be required to have the training appropriate for the specialty prior to entering training at UNM HSC or will obtain such training within 30 days of their start date. Each program may require additional specific training of its residents/fellows.

#### **ACLS CERTIFICATION**

Houseofficers who regularly participate on cardiac resuscitation teams will be required to obtain and maintain ACLS certification. Appropriate training and courses are offered through the BATCAVE. Interns are required to complete ACLS prior to their start date.

Specialties that are required to receive initial ACLS certification include: Anesthesiology, Dermatology, Emergency Medicine, Family Medicine, Internal and

Preliminary Medicine, Neurology, Neurosurgery, Otolaryngology, Ob/Gyn, Orthopaedics, Surgery, and Urology.

#### **BLS CERTIFICATION**

Current training in BLS includes basic airway and cardiac management, including the use of Automatic External Defibrillators. The principles and skills involved in BLS are those that can support a patient in any clinic, private physician's office, or in a public place until more advanced ACLS providers are available. The Institution believes all Houseofficers should be capable of providing this initial care.

#### PALS CERTIFICATION

Houseofficers who may be required to participate in resuscitation of infants and children on a regular basis are required to maintain their PALS certification.

Specialties required to receive and maintain initial PALS certification are: Anesthesiology, Emergency Medicine, Family Medicine, Neurosurgery, Orthopaedics, Otolaryngology, Pediatrics, Surgery, and Urology.

Certification for ACLS, BLS, or PALS can be obtained through the BATCAVE at no cost to the Houseofficer. Please call the BATCAVE at 272-0494 for registration. Certificates will be awarded through AHA or ASHI.

### GME EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES/PROGRAMS

GME will track the number of hours each resident spends learning about "Residents as Educators" and "Professionalism and Learner Mistreatment", in accordance with LCME requirements.

All Houseofficers must receive training on "Residents as Educators." There will be introductory education during Intern Orientation with a refresher course during HO1 to HO2 Orientation. Residency programs are then responsible for additional didactic and learning opportunities with emphasis on specialty specific knowledge and skills in coordination with learner goals and objectives. For residents particularly interested in teaching, they may participate in the "Residents as Educators" workshop held during specific times through the year offered by the Office of Medical Educator Development". Residency programs are responsible for ensuring all residents receive program level training. Additionally, programs must ensure 100% compliance in providing that information to the GME Office.

The following curricula are in Learning Central and located at: <a href="https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/learning/user/login.jsp">https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/learning/user/login.jsp</a>

- BATCAVE Various departments use the facilities offered by the human simulation lab including training in ACLS, BLS, PALS, and ATLS. In addition, various simulation modalities are available including Full Fidelity Human Patient Simulation and simulation of endoscopy procedures.
- GME Web Based Curricula In order to provide all Houseofficers' curricula designed to address specific ACGME Competencies, so web-based modules have been developed in Ethics, Evidence Based Medicine, Patient Safety/Clinical Quality Improvement, Research Design, and Wellness.

For more information on how to use Learning Central, go to : <a href="https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/learning/user/onlineaccess/Tipsheets/LearningPlan.pdf">https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/learning/user/onlineaccess/Tipsheets/LearningPlan.pdf</a>

- Office of Medical Educator Development The Office of Medical Educator Development (formerly part of the Office of Teacher and Educational Development), as a service to the School of Medicine, offers seminars designed to assist and improve Houseofficers' teaching skills and abilities.
- Biostatistical support is provided for Houseofficers; some no-cost support may be available (determined by the CTSC). To schedule an appointment email:

HSC-CTSCbiostats@salud.unm.edu

# ADDITIONAL GME AND INSTITUTIONAL POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES

Houseofficers can access additional GME- and institutional web resources on the following pages:

Ethics <a href="https://hscethics.unm.edu/">https://hscethics.unm.edu/</a>

Hand Hygiene <a href="https://hospitals.unm.edu/about/hand-hygiene.shtml">https://hospitals.unm.edu/about/hand-hygiene.shtml</a>

HSC Policies <a href="https://hsc.unm.edu/policyoffice/">https://hsc.unm.edu/policyoffice/</a>

#### **UNMH Policies**

https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet7/apps/doc\_management/index.cfm?project\_id=1HIPAA https://hsc.unm.edu/admin/compliance/HIPAA.html

Human Subject Research https://hsc.unm.edu/research/hrpo/

The Joint Commission (TJC) <a href="https://www.jointcommission.org/">https://www.jointcommission.org/</a>

#### Medical Staff Bylaws

https://clinicalaffairs.unm.edu/common/documents/msa-documents/2018%20September%20UNMH%20Medical%20Staff%20Bylaws.pd f

ACGME RC (Review Committee) information and requirements for each specialty www.acgme.org

Safety and Risk Services <a href="https://shea.unm.edu">https://shea.unm.edu</a>

Up to Date <a href="https://www.uptodate.com">https://www.uptodate.com</a>

Each program will provide trainees information regarding their respective specialty boards. For additional information, see your Program Coordinator or review the applicable information at the specialty board's web site.

#### **INSURANCE**

#### COBRA COVERAGE

The same health care coverage described under health insurance is available to Houseofficers, their spouses, and dependents for up to 18 months after termination, if the insured has no other health care coverage (i.e., COBRA must be the only health care coverage you have). The entire premium must be paid on the 1st of each month by the policyholder for desired coverage. Dependents removed from a Houseofficer's policy (e.g., by divorce) may elect to obtain COBRA coverage for up to 36 months. It is the Houseofficer's responsibility to notify any such dropped dependents of the availability of COBRA coverage.

#### **DENTAL INSURANCE**

Dental coverage for Houseofficers and their dependents is provided through Delta Dental and managed by UNM Employee Benefits located on UNM's main campus. HR Benefits can be reached at 505-277-6947; please select option for staff at UNM.

Enrollment for New Hires/Newly Benefits-Eligible Employees Hired On or After July 1, 2016. The Enrollment Period begins with your first day in your benefits-

eligible position. Employees hired into a benefits-eligible position on or after July 1, 2016 may complete their benefits enrollment as of the first day in their benefits-eligible position. Employees hired into a benefits-eligible position on or after July 1, 2016 may complete their benefits enrollment within a 60-day enrollment period, starting with the date of hire into their new position. Benefit elections are effective the first day of the month after the enrollment is received and approved by the Benefits Department.

#### MANDATORY HEALTHCARE NOTICES

As an employer with a self-insured medical plan, UNM is required to inform benefits-eligible employees about certain rights and protections provided under Federal Law. These notices are provided to new employees at the time of hire and annually each plan year thereafter. View the current plan year here: <a href="https://hr.unm.edu/docs/benefits/mandatory-notice.pdf">https://hr.unm.edu/docs/benefits/mandatory-notice.pdf</a>. This packet also includes UNM's Notice of HIPAA Privacy Practices and other important information. You will only be able to make changes or elections to your benefit coverage during the Open Enrollment period. The Houseofficer's portion of the premiums are paid through payroll deduction. Coverage is effective the first day of the month following the month of your hire date.

#### DISABILITY INSURANCE

In accordance with Accreditation Council on Graduate Medical Education (ACGME), requirements to provide access to coverage for disabilities resulting from activities that are part of their educational program, UNM provides Long Term Disability insurance coverage. Premiums are shared between the institution and the trainee. The policy may be converted to an individual policy at the end of training. Contact the carrier office several months prior to leaving the program to arrange a conversion.

#### **HEALTH INSURANCE**

All Houseofficers, their spouses, qualifying domestic partners, and dependent children are offered health care coverage through a group policy. For additional information on how a domestic partner qualifies, please visit <a href="http://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/3000/3790.html">http://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/3000/3790.html</a>.

All Houseofficers must either enroll in the health insurance plan or provide documentation of coverage under another plan. Enrollment in the health insurance plan requires a monthly payment by the Houseofficer for single or family coverage. This portion of the premium will be made through an authorized payroll deduction. An identification card is issued to the policyholder. Any additions to the policy (spouses, domestic partners, and children) after open

enrollment must be reported on the proper forms within 31 days of marriage, birth, adoption, or other life-qualifying event along with proof of that event. If delayed past 31 days, the carrier may not add coverage until the next open enrollment (mid-June –July 1st); family members of a Resident Physician cannot be covered under more than one Houseofficer Health policy.

The plan must be used as described in the benefits booklet or Houseofficers will be responsible for additional charges. All incurred health care expenses not covered by insurance will be the responsibility of the Houseofficer. Additional information is available in the certificate of coverage booklet. Extra copies of the booklet are available in GME. The Office of GME manages Houseofficer's health insurance.

Exiting Houseofficers and dependents may elect continuation of health care coverage through COBRA (see COBRA section).

#### LIFE INSURANCE AND ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT

The University provides group Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment coverage. Please contact the Office of GME for enrollment forms. A beneficiary should be named.

#### PRF-TAX INSURANCE PREMIUM PLAN

Pre-Tax Insurance Premium Plan is available to all Houseofficers. This allows your health and benefit coverage to be deducted from your gross salary before computing taxes. Participation in the plan is automatic. If a Houseofficer does not wish to participate, he/she must decline within 30 days of the employment date. Those who wish to make changes after that date can do so during open enrollment.

#### PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

Professional Liability coverage for the Houseofficer is provided by the State of New Mexico for the period of training. Professional Liability Insurance of the "per occurrence" & "tail coverage" type will be provided for the Houseofficer in accordance with that policy. This policy covers only activities that occur in conjunction with residency training.

No liability insurance is provided for professional activities outside the training program unless such activity is under the auspices of the UNM HSC SOM Locum Tenens Program.

#### VISION INSURANCE

Vision coverage for Houseofficers and their dependents is provided by Vision Service Plan and managed by UNM Employee Benefits located on UNM's main campus. HR Benefits can be reached at 505-277-6947. Please select option for staff at UNM.

Enrollment for new hires/newly benefits-eligible employees hired on or after July 1, 2016. The Enrollment Period begins with your first day in your benefits-eligible position Employees hired into a benefits-eligible position on or after July 1, 2016 may complete their benefits enrollment as of the first day in their benefits-eligible position. Employees hired into a benefits-eligible position on or after July 1, 2016 may complete their benefits enrollment within a 60-day enrollment period, starting with the date of hire into their new position. Benefit elections are effective the first day of the month after the enrollment is received and approved by the Benefits Department.

#### MANDATORY HEALTHCARE NOTICES

As an employer with a self-insured medical plan, UNM is required to inform benefits-eligible employees about certain rights and protections provided under Federal Law. These notices are provided to new employees at the time of hire and annually each plan year thereafter. View the current plan year at <a href="https://hr.unm.edu/docs/benefits/mandatory-notices-fy2019.pdf">https://hr.unm.edu/docs/benefits/mandatory-notices-fy2019.pdf</a> here. This packet also includes UNM's Notice of HIPAA Privacy Practices and other important information. You will only be able to make changes or elections to your benefit coverage during Open Enrollment period. Premiums are paid by the individual through payroll deduction. Coverage is effective the first day of the month following the month of your hire date.

#### WORKERS' COMPENSATION

Treatment of occupational injuries is covered under Workers' Compensation Insurance. Injuries must be documented within two weeks through the submission of a Workers' Compensation Form and incident report to Risk Management. Forms are available on the UNM website. Residents working outside of the institution may also call the Occupational Health Services, at 272-8043.

# **LEAVE**

The use of any leave may require make-up time for the purpose of Board eligibility. That is determined by the specific policy for each Board specialty and should be

discussed with each individual Program Director or designee. Houseofficers remain responsible for meeting the requirements for the residency program and of the specialty Board. Leave for annual contracts of less than one full academic year will be calculated on a pro rata basis.

#### ANNUAL LEAVE

Annual leave provides the Houseofficer with time for rest and restoration for an extended period in order to return to Residency with renewed vitality. This is beneficial for patient safety and Houseofficer well-being.

All Houseofficers will receive 21 days of annual leave that will be based on a sevenday workweek consisting of 15 weekdays and 6 weekend days during each academic year. Annual leave that is unused will <u>not</u> be carried forward to the new training year.

Annual leave must be requested in writing through the home department on approved leave request forms in accordance with the home program's established procedure. No annual leave will be scheduled and paid during the week at the beginning of the contract. Blocks of seven days are encouraged for Houseofficers to have a period of adequate rest. Annual leave may not be taken in increments of less than one week without the approval of the Houseofficer's Program Director; for off service rotations, vacations of less than one week must be approved by the Program Director of the off-service department. No rotations should be off limits to vacation. Programs need to be aware they must provide appropriate coverage to allow this. Leave requests may be denied if it places undue burden on the service. The maximum time off on any rotation for which credit will be given is two weeks. Houseofficers who have difficulties scheduling annual leave on a rotation should contact their Program Director for assistance. The GME Office can be an additional resource.

Houseofficers have the responsibility to schedule leave in a timely manner. The later the request, the more difficult it may be for it to be granted. Normal requests should receive notification of confirmation or denial within 10 days of initial request from the home Program Coordinator.

# PROGRAM DIRECTORS POLICY ON ANNUAL LEAVE FOR HOUSEOFFICERS

Program Directors should grant Houseofficers vacation in proportion to the number of Houseofficers that are received on that service. For example, if you have one Houseofficer per month for one year, you would have to grant 21 days of annual leave on your service. No rotation should be off limits to vacation. Leave requests may be denied if it places undue burden on the service.

Requests for vacation on services other than the Houseofficer's home service should be received a minimum of sixty days in advance of the requested annual leave. Requests without the sixty-day notice will be at the discretion of the service on which vacation is requested. Each program may have its own policies on the timetable for requesting vacation. Program Coordinators should communicate these timetables to off service coordinators whose Houseofficers may rotate on their service. The request for vacation would be initiated with the Program Coordinator in the home service. The home Program Coordinator would verify the amount of annual leave remaining for that Houseofficer and obtain the proper signature and permission of the Program Director. The home Program Coordinator would communicate the vacation request by e-mail to the off service Program Coordinator. The communication cycle, discussion, and definitive approval or denial of the request should be concluded within ten days of the initial e-mail communication of the request. Approval or denial of the request should be communicated by e-mail to the initiating home Program Coordinator.

# STEPS FOR REQUESTING ANNUAL LEAVE FROM OFF SERVICE ROTATIONS

The Houseofficer initiates the vacation request to the home Program Coordinator.

Home Program Coordinator verifies remaining annual leave and obtains any required signatures or permissions for the home service.

At least 60 days prior to the date of the requested annual leave, the Houseofficer's home Program Coordinator will e-mail the annual leave request to the off service Program Coordinator, including name of Houseofficer, rotation dates, and requested leave.

The off service Program Coordinator should e-mail the home Program Coordinator a definitive approval or denial of the request within 10 days of the initial e-mail request.

The home Program Coordinator will notify the Houseofficer of their approved leave.

#### **BFRFAVFMFNT I FAVF**

Houseofficers are granted three (3) paid days per contract year for bereavement leave for immediate family members (Family members may be natural, step, adopted, or foster. For the purposes of this policy, immediate family is defined as the employee's spouse or domestic partner, children, sons- and daughters-in-law,

parents, parents-in-law, grandchildren, grandparents, and siblings) as defined by University policy. Houseofficers do not have the option of carrying unused leave from one contract year to another. Due to extenuating circumstances such as distance to be traveled, settling of the estate, the Houseofficer, upon request to the Houseofficer's Program Director, shall be able to use annual leave, if available, to extend bereavement leave beyond three (3) days or may be granted a leave of absence without pay.

#### CATASTROPHIC LEAVE

A catastrophic illness and/or injury is defined as a medical or mental health event experienced by an employee, or an employee's dependent (spouse, domestic partner, or child) that is likely to require the Houseofficer to be absent from training for a prolonged period of time. Catastrophic leave is to support those unusual or catastrophic illnesses or injuries that would leave the Houseofficer without salary between the duration of their paid sick and annual leave and the qualifying period of the long-term disability coverage (90 days). Houseofficers do not have the option of carrying unused sick and annual leave from one contract year to another.

Catastrophic leave must be requested in writing, through the Houseofficer's Program Director to the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education. The Associate Dean for GME approves such leave. A request for catastrophic leave may require an attending physician statement. It is to be used only after the Houseofficer has exhausted all available sick leave and a minimum of 14 days of annual leave. Catastrophic leave cannot typically exceed sixty (60) days. Requests for extension of an additional 30 days of catastrophic leave may be requested by a Program Director to the Associate Dean of GME. The additional 30 days of catastrophic leave would require the approval of the Executive Vice Dean of the School of Medicine. Catastrophic leave is available as a one-time event per duration of the current training program. Any additional leave falls into the category of unpaid leave of absence. Make-up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board and should be negotiated with the Program Director.

#### **EDUCATIONAL LEAVE**

Educational activities including but not limited to presenting papers, taking state and national examinations, or attending educational seminars may be allowed, with pay, with advance approval of a Houseofficer's Program Director. The annual educational leave allowance shall be five (5) days. At the discretion of the Program Director, Houseofficers shall be permitted to split educational leave time or use it as a whole unit. Educational leave cannot be carried over from one academic year to another. Educational leave should not be used for conducting CIR business.

#### HOLIDAYS

Houseofficers shall be entitled to seven (7) holidays off per year with pay. The following holidays will be considered holidays with pay: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and New Year's Eve. Holidays falling on a Saturday shall be observed on the preceding Friday. Holidays falling on a Sunday shall be observed on the following Monday in accordance with UNM Policy.

Houseofficers who are required to perform duty, or to be on-call, on a holiday shall be granted either alternate time off commensurate with the amount of time worked, up to a maximum of eight (8) hours, or time-and-a-half pay up to a maximum of eight (8) hours for the time worked. The Houseofficer's Program Director shall approve all requests for alternate time off or additional pay, and determine which option is granted. In the event the Houseofficer is granted time off, the time off must be taken within the Houseofficer's training period and need not be granted in the same academic year in which the holiday falls. The alternative leave arrangement may not be compounded. For example, a Houseofficer whose shift requires them to work on both Thanksgiving and the day after Thanksgiving will receive eight (8) hours of alternative leave or additional pay, not sixteen (16) hours.

Since Houseofficers may participate in training at multiple institutions, The Office of Graduate Medical Education strongly encourages alternative leave arrangements to be granted by Program Directors in the same rotation in which it occurs. It is permissible for alternative holiday leave to occur prior to the holiday if it is within the same rotation period.

#### **WELLNESS**

The University will provide a  $\frac{1}{2}$  day of paid wellness each quarter to each HSO, for the purpose of attending to their personal well-being. A quarter's accrual may be saved up to an additional quarter, to use in conjunction with the next quarter's accrual for a total of 1 full day every half-year.

#### ABSENCE — LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

The Program Director may grant leaves of absence, at their discretion, for periods of short duration. Time for such activities as personal courtroom appearances or personal business must be taken as leave without pay or annual leave. In such instances, Houseofficers would be responsible for paying the full cost of their health, vision, and dental premiums during this time. Insurance premiums are

charged at full institutional cost to those working fewer than fifteen calendar days per month. Leave of absence without pay may, at the discretion of the Program Director, be extended up to a maximum of three months. Make up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board. Contact your Program Director for specific requirements for your specialty.

Houseofficers whose leave of absence extends beyond three months will be required to reapply for admission to their UNM residency or fellowship program should they wish to resume their GME training at UNM.

#### **FAMILY I FAVE**

In compliance with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), The University of New Mexico provides eligible employees with up to twelve (12) weeks of job protected leave within a twelve (12) month period for eligible family and medical reasons and/or up to twenty six (26) weeks for Military Family Leave subject to the conditions outlined in the act. This leave is hereafter referred to as FMLA leave. FMLA leave is an addition of any paid annual or sick leave an employee may have taken. The University will comply with all provisions of the Act for eligible employees.

Houseofficers returning from family leave may be required to complete missed rotations in order to become Board eligible. Should a department require a Houseofficer to complete missed rotations, UNM shall compensate the Houseofficer at his or her current Post-Graduate ("PGY") level and provide malpractice coverage and all other applicable benefits. Make up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board and should be negotiated with the Program Director.

#### MATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE

UNM Graduate Medical Education programs recognize the legitimacy of integrating childbearing and adoption into the years of graduate medical training. Return to work after pregnancy and pregnancy-related conditions is to be determined by the Houseofficer's provider. Houseofficers receive 14 days (10 weekdays and 4 weekend days) of paid maternity/paternity leave for the birth or adoption of a child. Paid time off may be extended with available sick/annual leave. Houseofficers may take leave any time within the first year of a child's birth or adoption. If both parents are Houseofficers at UNM, both Houseofficers shall be eligible to take maternity/paternity leave at the same time or separately. Leave of absence without pay may be extended to bring time off (the sum of paid and unpaid leave) up to a maximum of four months.

Upon request, any Houseofficer who is pregnant shall be assigned electives and rotations appropriate to her condition, to the extent possible. This shall include but not be limited to: being relieved of exposure to disease, radiation, and chemicals, which may be harmful to the fetus and the mother, limited night call duty, and time off to attend personal medical visits as appropriate. Such requests shall be in conformity with the rules of the Houseofficer's specialty board and within the constraints of the program.

The Office of Graduate Medical Education pays a portion of the health insurance premium as a benefit during this approved Family Leave. Make up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board and should be negotiated with the Program Director.

#### MILITARY I FAVE

Paid military leave shall be granted upon presentation of official orders at a rate of three (3) weeks per academic year, consisting of fifteen (15) week days and six (6) weekend days per. Military leave is defined as leave for service into the United States Army, Air Force, Navy, Marine Corps, Coast Guard, National Guard, Air National Guard, or reserve component thereof.

In the event a Houseofficer is called to active duty by the military as defined above, the Houseofficer's position within his or her training program shall be held until the Houseofficer can return to work duty at UNM HSC. Make up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board and should be negotiated with the Program Director.

#### PROFESSIONAL LEAVE

Professional leave is available to Houseofficers for the purpose of interviewing for employment, residency, or a fellowship. Houseofficers are allowed up to 5 days of such leave during the course of a residency or fellowship program. Leave for such purposes beyond the five days must be taken as annual leave or leave without pay. No payment will be made for unused time. Make up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board and should be negotiated with the Program Director.

#### SICK/HEALTH LEAVE

All Houseofficers receive twenty-one days of paid sick/health leave (consisting of 15-week days and 6 weekend days) which may be used during the contract term for the purpose intended. This leave must be documented in writing through the Department on approved leave request forms. The sick/health leave policy is

established in order to protect the Houseofficer from threats to their own health (including to allow them to attend routine medical, mental health, and dental appointments scheduled during their working hours), for bona-fide medical conditions, and to prevent patient exposure. Routine appointments should be scheduled with as much advance notice as is reasonably practicable to allow the program to arrange coverage. Absence from work to care for an ill or injured member of one's immediate family (spouse, domestic partner, children, parents, and grandparents) may be charged to sick leave and should be done in advance of the leave if possible. A doctor's note may be required at the discretion of the Program Director. Unused sick leave may not be carried forward to the next training year nor will any payment be made for unused time.

Make up time for purposes of board eligibility is determined by the specific policy of each specialty board and should be negotiated with the Program Director.

Houseofficers diagnosed with or suspected of having the following infectious diseases should return to work through Employee Occupational Health Services for medical clearance before returning to work: acute viral conjunctivitis, acute diarrheal disease and Salmonella infection, acute hepatitis A, vaccine-preventable viral diseases, pertussis, influenza, scabies, Group A streptococcal infection, tuberculosis, herpetic whitlow, varicella and shingles. Note: This list is not comprehensive. Certain diagnoses preclude mav immunocompromised patients. Houseofficers should contact Infection Control at 272-0131 or Infection Prevention Manager 24- and after hours pager 380-3000. Special provisions may apply to Houseofficers with acute or chronic Hepatitis B and HIV (see page HIV/Hepatitis C/Hepatitis B). The University reserves the right to request a physician statement of fitness to return to work.

# **IMMUNIZATION/MEDICAL CLEARANCE**

#### ANNUAL INFLUENZA VACCINATION

Houseofficers are required to receive the influenza vaccination yearly, unless medically contraindicated. Beginning in October, influenza vaccinations are available at Employee Occupation Health Services and locations to be announced in University Hospital and at the VAMC.

#### HEPATITIS B VACCINE/VARICELLA/MEASLES/INFLUENZA

These vaccines are offered at no cost to Houseofficers. All Houseofficers must have had proof of being immune to Hepatitis B and Varicella (i.e. titres) in accordance with UNM HSC requirements. Houseofficers must be up to date on all immunizations including and not limited to measles, mumps, rubella, pertussis,

tetanus, and diphtheria. Houseofficers must also be immune to varicella through documentation of vaccination (two doses for adults) or with serology performed after vaccination or clinical varicella. Houseofficers are required to maintain appropriate immunizations. This must be up to date prior to starting clinical work at UNM and its affiliated hospitals and clinics.

#### MEDICAL CLEARANCE

Houseofficers must be medically cleared to begin clinical work. This must be completed by orientation. This will be done by the Employee Health Office. Until notification is received from the Employee Health Office that the Houseofficer has been cleared, he/she will not be allowed to begin clinical work. This is in accordance with HSC policy.

Houseofficers are also required to document immunity to Hepatitis B and varicella via titers. A history of having varicella is not sufficient documentation of immunity. Additionally, all Houseofficers must be up to date on their immunizations prior to and during residency training.

#### HIV/HEPATITIS C/HEPATITIS B

Houseofficers should be aware that state law governs the practice of physicians with HIV and varies from state to state. CDC recommendations concerning the practice of physicians with chronic Hepatitis B and C must be followed. As yet, no state has elected to regulate the practice of physicians with Hepatitis C. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommend strict adherence to Standard Precautions as outlined in the OSHA Blood borne Pathogen Standards as the best way to prevent transmission of blood borne pathogens from infected health care workers to patients as well as the infected patient to providers.

In New Mexico, HIV-seropositive physicians who perform "exposure-prone procedures" must report their HIV status to the New Mexico Board of Medical Examiners. Consultants from the Department of Health, the physician's specialty, and Infectious Diseases will then review the physician's practice and clinical status and determine whether he/she may continue practicing as before or should be restricted in the scope of his/her practice. "Exposure-prone procedures" are defined as procedures that create a risk of the provider sustaining an injury and bleeding into the patient, such as palpation of a needle tip in a body cavity. Such procedures may occur in, but are not limited to, surgical and dental fields.

Houseofficers who are HIV-positive should seek advice from their HIV physician as to whether it is appropriate for them to disclose their HIV sero-status to their Program Director based on their clinical status, training program, and need for practice modification under State Law. Houseofficers with chronic Hepatitis B and C who perform invasive procedures should seek expert consultation with Hospital

Epidemiology pager 380-3000, coordinated through their residency Program Director, on how to prevent the transmission of disease to patients.

In the event of an acknowledgment of an infection such as HIV and Hepatitis C, the Houseofficers should be expected to be counseled as to career effects; limitations, precaution, options, expectations, liabilities and position of the Department and Institution. This counseling will be provided by a committee that is to include the Program Director, a mentor/advocate (selected by the Houseofficers) and the Infection Control Physician for the Institution. The Chair of the Committee will be the Associate Dean of GME or his delegate.

#### TUBERCULOSIS TESTING/TST/N-95

The State of New Mexico requires annual tuberculosis testing for all health care personnel. New Houseofficers will receive this test during their orientation day activities. All Houseofficers will be sent reminders for annual tuberculin skin testing, which is performed at Employee Occupation Health Services. Only Houseofficers with proof of prior positive TST's are excluded from this requirement, but they will be required to complete an annual symptoms survey from EOHS.

N-95 respirator training and fit-testing is provided at new Houseofficer orientation for all first and second year Houseofficers, as well as first year fellows. Thereafter, respirator fit-testing is required yearly. Program Coordinators will be responsible for ensuring all Houseofficers comply with yearly fit-testing. Yearly respirator fit-testing will be provided through group sessions or individual appointments arranged by the residency coordinators. New Houseofficers not medically cleared or fit-tested at orientation may contact Employee Occupational Health at 272-8043.

# **MISCELLANEOUS BENEFITS**

#### **CALLROOMS**

Monitored and secured callrooms are available in University Hospitals and in the Barbara and Bill Richardson Pavilion. Callrooms will be located near bathroom and shower facilities and readily accessible to patient care areas.

Callrooms will be equipped with computers with intranet and internet access or intranet terminals and telephones.

Callrooms will be cleaned and provided with adequate linens by housekeeping staff seven days per week. Houseofficers must recognize they share responsibility for living and working conditions in the on-call rooms and will cooperate in keeping the environment clean, free of unnecessary clutter, and otherwise attractive for themselves and their colleagues.

Houseofficers who have disabilities, as defined by EEO (and University Policy 3110), can obtain access to the handicapped callroom by contacting the Office of GME.

#### COMPUTER SERVICES

Computer training and services are available through University Hospital. You can contact 272-3282 or Educational and Consulting Services at 272-3356. If you are on an HSC computer, you may also go directly to the IT webpage for assistance with a computer matter. <a href="https://hsc.unm.edu/about/cio/user-support/">https://hsc.unm.edu/about/cio/user-support/</a>

E-Mail accounts (Outlook) are established as part of orientation for those who start at a scheduled orientation date. Others who start on a date that is not a scheduled orientation time will be required to obtain an e-mail account through their Program Coordinator. University email is the primary means of electronic institutional communications with Houseofficers, including communications from the Office of Graduate Medical Education. Houseofficers are expected to regularly check their University e-mail accounts (daily when on service) for such institutional communications. To establish an e-mail account or information on services available on the medical campus, contact the Health Sciences Center Computer Services Help Desk, 272-1694.

One-on-one, customized, PowerChart training is available through <a href="mailto:powerchartsynergy@salud.unm.edu">powerchartsynergy@salud.unm.edu</a>.

Services include on campus facilities with access to shared-system computers, international computer networks and microcomputers. Houseofficers are expected to comply with UNM UAP Acceptable Computer Use Policy 2500.

#### CONFIDENTIAL COUNSELING AND OTHER SUPPORT SERVICES

The University recognizes that residency may be an increasingly stressful time. Support is available through the following resources. All resources are confidential, and none are reported to your program. Please reach out to the Office of Physician and Student Wellness, Dr. Elizabeth Lawrence, Director, elawrence@salud.unm.edu), your Program Director, Program Coordinator, or the GME Office and Associate Dean of GME at 272-6225, if you need assistance with accessing these resources.

- Outcomes, Inc. Provides short-term counseling, education, and prevention, and is available to all Houseofficers and their families. Contact them at 243-2551; more information is available at <a href="www.OutcomesNM.org">www.OutcomesNM.org</a>. Access to Outcomes is a benefit provided free of charge to the Houseofficer or their family member.
- Jeff Dunn, MD (Psychiatrist) is available to see residents and fellows free of charge, generally within 3-5 days, including after hours, in his office on the 4<sup>th</sup> floor of the Family Medicine building: 272-6130 or <u>JeDunn@salud.unm.edu</u>. Visits to Dr. Dunn are covered under the Houseofficer's health insurance plan.
- Dr. Cheri Koinis, Associate Professor of Psychology, is available to see residents
  and fellows free of charge by appointment in her office in the Family Medicine
  Building. She can be reached at <a href="mailto:ckoinis@salud.unm.edu">ckoinis@salud.unm.edu</a> or by calling 272-3898.
- CARS 272-6868
   Counseling, Assistance and Referral Service through UNM Main Campus functions directly, or through referrals, for short-term counseling and support, as well as referrals for those who need longer-term assistance.
- CAPS 277-7205

  The Center for Academic Progress Support is available to help assess difficulties in test-taking, time management and study skills. Online Wellness training resources are available in Learning Central for all Houseofficers. https://caps.unm.edu/index.php
- Additional off-campus mental health resources:

Agora Crisis Center: <a href="http://www.agoracares.org/">http://www.agoracares.org/</a> 505-277-3013 or 866-HELP-1-NM

National Suicide Prevention Lifeline: <a href="https://suicidepreventionlifeline.org/1-800-273-8255">https://suicidepreventionlifeline.org/1-800-273-8255</a> and crisis text line at 741-741

New Mexico Crisis and Access Line: <a href="http://www.nmcrisisline.com/">http://www.nmcrisisline.com/</a> 1-855-662-7474

Fitness (please see Fitness Facilities).

#### **EMERGENCY LOANS**

Houseofficers with signed contracts are invited to apply for 90-day interest-free loans. These loans assist with unexpected expenses. Houseofficers can apply for

Emergency Loans for up to \$500 by contacting the Advancement and Alumni Relations Office at 272-5700.

#### **EMPLOYMENT VERIFICATION**

All requests for verification related to credit applications, mortgage loans, loan deferment, and educational training should be directed to the Office of Graduate Medical Education to expedite their return. The Associate Dean for GME on behalf of the institution delegates the responsibility for all verification of training dates, as well as other verification of resident data, to the Administrative Director of GME. (See back cover for mailing address.)

#### FITNESS FACILITIES

The Wellness Center in the Dominici Center-West building is open to all Houseofficers. Houseofficers will need their badges to gain access to the building and the Wellness Center. There are showers and lockers available at the Wellness center for Houseofficers while they are using the Center facilities. The HSC Wellness Center is open 24/7. Those who hold a UNMH/HSC Security-issued badge can access the Center through the east side doors of Domenici Center West. <a href="http://hsc.unm.edu/about/wellness/">http://hsc.unm.edu/about/wellness/</a>

Additionally, the 6 Middle space in the main hospital contains a gym facility open to Houseofficers 24 hours per day. Access is by badge entry access. All who use the Houseofficer Gym must first sign a waiver available at the GME office and at the Houseofficer Gym. More information can be found at: https://hsc.unm.edu/assets/doc/wellness/wellness-faq.pdf

Houseofficers must recognize they share responsibility for living and working conditions in the Gym and will cooperate in keeping the environment clean, free of unnecessary clutter and otherwise attractive for themselves and their colleagues. Towels will be provided in the shower room and in the gym room.

Houseofficers additionally have access to health and fitness facilities and classes through UNM's Johnson Gym. More information can be found at: <a href="https://recservices.unm.edu/">https://recservices.unm.edu/</a>

#### FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS

Houseofficers may participate in UNM's Flexible Spending Account by setting aside part of their pay on a before-tax basis to set up: a) a medical reimbursement

account to pay certain qualified medical, dental, prescription, vision, and hearing care expenses not covered by insurance plans, for eligible employees or their eligible dependents, or b) a dependent care spending account to reimburse the Houseofficer for qualified dependent care expenses, thus reducing taxable income. The FSA program is a fringe benefit authorized by the IRS. The FSA program year begins January 1st. This is set up by UNM HR and Payroll; forms are available in those offices or here <a href="https://hr.unm.edu/benefits/fsa">https://hr.unm.edu/benefits/fsa</a>.

#### FOOD SERVICE (MEALS) ON CALL/IN HOUSE

Food is available 24 hours per day/7 days per week through the cafeteria, on-call refrigerators, vending machines or through private vendors. For information about the location of the refrigerators in on call rooms, please contact the GME office at 272-6225, department Program Coordinator, or Chief Resident.

On-call meals for Houseofficers will be provided at the University Hospital, Mental Health Center, and at the Veterans Administration Hospital as a benefit.

University hospital meal funds are electronically distributed using the UNM HSC ID badge magnetic strip and are for use by Houseofficers only. The credit can be redeemable at the cafeteria located on the 2nd floor of University Hospital and at the Happy Heart Bistro in the lower level of the Domenici West Building.

Cafeteria funds will be allotted in annual sums and may roll over from one year to the next. Prorated amounts will be allocated to those working less than an academic year. Refrigerators in the resident lounge on the 6th Floor, 4 West conference room, and ER Conference room of University Hospital shall be stocked with adequate frozen meals seven days per week for those on call overnight who were not able to access food in the cafeteria. A minimum of \$550 per year will be applicable regardless of assignment.

Meals at the VA are located in the 5th floor conference room or may be preordered each day by the individual Houseofficer.

Graduate Medical Education and Program Coordinators are not responsible for lost or stolen identification badges once they have been distributed to Houseofficers. The Houseofficer should go to the badge office on the first floor of UNMH for assistance.

# GME WELLNESS INITIATIVES AND THE OFFICE OF PHYSICIAN AND STUDENT WELLNESS

The mission of the SOM Office of Physician and Student Wellness (OPSW) is to promote a deeper understanding of clinician and faculty well-being and its importance in providing the highest quality of patient care, and to collaborate with colleagues to develop and assess the impact of individual and institutional wellness interventions.

Residency and fellowship programs and individuals can arrange for consultations with Dr. Elizabeth Lawrence, MD (ELawrence@salud.unm.edu) or Dr. Eileen Barrett, MD (EBarrett@salud.unm.edu), both internists with a special focus on wellness.

More information about UNM's Wellness Initiatives can be found at: <a href="https://hsc.unm.edu/school-of-medicine/education/wellness/index.html">https://hsc.unm.edu/school-of-medicine/education/wellness/index.html</a>.

#### LACTATION STATIONS

UNMH offers lactation stations for Houseofficers, as well as UH employees, to continue breastfeeding children after their return to work.

There are multiple lactation stations available. These are restricted access and have refrigeration available. An updated list, which includes contact information for gaining access to these rooms, is posted on the UNMH Lactation Services website (<a href="https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet/Lactation/index.shtml">https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet/Lactation/index.shtml</a>, use the "Resources" tab at the top and then "Employee Resources" tab in the middle). At the time of publication of this manual, this is the current listing of UNMH sites:

BBRP: 3rd Floor near Newborn Clinic

UH Main: 4th Floor near 4-West

UNM Children's Psychiatric Center: Cimmaron Clinic Building, Room 114

UNM Adult Psychiatric Center: 1st Floor IOP General Area

HOPE Building (933 Bradbury): Room 3999 (near CLT classrooms)

**OSIS: Surgery Area** 

Carrie Tingley Hospital (Outpatient): Room 3013B

Clinical Education (1650 University): Clinical Education Department, 1st Floor

Additional locations on the UNM campus (including North Campus locations) can be found at <a href="https://map.unm.edu/">https://map.unm.edu/</a> along with other areas of interest.

VA: The lactation room is on 3A. Immediate key access is available from the nursing supervisor on the 3A ward, the hospital nursing supervisor, or the hospital administrator on duty. Residents/fellows who wish to be issued a key of their own, contact the office of the VA Designated Institutional Official, Dr. Darra Kingsley, 265-1711, extension 4804.

For additional information see: <a href="https://women.unm.edu/services/breastfeeding-support-program.html">https://women.unm.edu/services/breastfeeding-support-program.html</a>

UNM Policy regarding Lactation Support: <a href="https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2750.html">https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2750.html</a>

#### LIVING QUARTERS

Living quarters, routine meals, and laundry for personal items are not provided. See section on Callrooms.

#### LOANS

Loans from various sources are available to Houseofficers:

UNM SOM Alumni Association	(505) 272-5700
American Medical Student Association/Foundation	(800) 767-2266
Nusenda Credit Union	(505) 889-7755
Physician Services Association	(800) 241-6905

#### MEDICAL EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS

Each clinical department has education funds for Houseofficers. Houseofficers will receive no less than an amount determined by the collective bargaining agreement for the use of books, journals, electronic media and equipment, state-mandated medical licenses, Board exams, educational/professional software, board review programs, conference registration and travel, and work related medical equipment.

Any computer or digital device purchased with UNM funds must comply with UNM HSC IT Security Policies. It is the responsibility of each individual to follow the standards and requirements established by their department as well as all data owners regarding the handling and protection of HSC information assets. HSC IT Security Policies can be found at <a href="http://hscapp.unm.edu/intranet">http://hscapp.unm.edu/intranet</a> under Productivity and following the links for the HSC and UNMH Policies and Procedures.

Residents should not purchase any of the individual aforementioned types of digital equipment more frequently than every two years. Unused funds may be carried forward from one year to the next. Program Directors must approve the specific utilization of educational funds. If approved by the department, all of the above educational equipment shall be retained by the Houseofficer on completion of residency, provided, however, that the purchase price of any individual item does not exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000).

#### MEDITATION ROOM

The Meditation Room is available to all Houseofficers on 3 Middle in the main hospital. The Meditation Room is meant to be a quiet space away from clinical areas. Yoga mats are available for those who wish to make use of the floor space. The room has a badge entry access.

Houseofficers must recognize they share responsibility for living and working conditions in the Meditation Room and will cooperate in keeping the environment clean, free of unnecessary clutter and otherwise attractive for themselves and their colleagues.

#### **MILFAGE**

The mileage rate that may be claimed when using a privately owned vehicle for university Business is set by the New Mexico Per Diem and Mileage Act. Houseofficers who are required to use their personal vehicles for rotations greater than 50 miles away from UNM may claim travel mileage when driving to and from their training sites for business purposes. The rates of reimbursement are in accordance with University Policy. Houseofficers may not claim mileage reimbursement for other incidental travel within the location of their training site. Mileage will be determined using the UNM standard travel distance between cities. Program Directors will approve travel reimbursement.

#### **PAGFRS**

Each Houseofficer will be provided with a text messaging pager during employee orientation or within the first week of employment by their department. All pagers shall be returned at the end of training.

#### **PARKING**

All Houseofficers are provided safe and secure parking by University Hospital at the Lomas Parking Structure. Houseofficers are allowed to park on the 2nd level ramp and levels above of the designated parking structure in parking spaces for "Employee and SOM parking".

Residents on clinical rotations at the UNM Comprehensive Cancer Center (CCC) or Outpatient Surgery and Imaging Services (OSIS) may park in Land's West Parking off University Blvd. Applications for University of New Mexico parking lots are available at Parking Services, located on 1129 University NE behind Carrie Tingley Hospital. For directions, call Parking and Transportation at 272-4074. Payment is made at deeply discounted rate on an annual basis. The parking area is equipped with security cameras as you enter and exit the facility. Emergency response/panic kiosks are located on each floor near the stairwells. If you need an escort to your vehicle after hours, please call UH Security at 272-2160. The University of New Mexico and University Hospital closely monitor parking.

You are strongly encouraged to park in the designated areas. Failure to do so will result in parking tickets and possible towing. Parking tickets should be handled at once in a professional and responsible manner before the situation escalates to booting and/or towing. University parking lots are paid parking only. Individuals parked in lots without an appropriate visible permit may be fined and towed.

Parking at the Veteran Administration Medical Center is administered by the VA facility. Houseofficers are allowed to park on the East parking lot, or if already full, in the South parking lot behind the Air Force Clinic and clinic parking lot. A parking sticker must be present on the vehicle to park in these lots. There are "on call" **placards** that may be used by Houseofficers who are on call.

When a Houseofficer works an outside or away rotation that does not provide free parking to employees, UNM shall, upon presentation of a receipt(s) from the parking garage of the medical facility, reimburse the Houseofficer for all parking expenses accrued during the rotation. Receipts and the rotation schedule must be submitted in a timely manner in order to receive parking reimbursement.

Bicycle parking in lockers is available through UNM Parking and Transportation services. There is typically a waiting list. Contact Parking & Transportation

Services via email at parktran@unm.edu with your name, Banner ID, and bike locker location in which you are interested to get on the waitlist. Bike locker locations can be found at <a href="http://pats.unm.edu/maps/index.html">http://pats.unm.edu/maps/index.html</a>.

#### PAYROLL

Houseofficers are eligible for membership in the Nusenda Credit Union, which has a branch not far from University Hospital. Your UNM check will be electronically deposited at your banks' checking or savings accounts.

#### PAYROLL ADVANCES

New Mexico state law prohibits the University of New Mexico from making payroll advances.

#### RELIGIOUS PRACTICES AND OBSERVATIONS

The University of New Mexico believes that all Houseofficers have the right to pursue their religious beliefs during their medical residency training. UNM Programs should attempt to reasonably accommodate these beliefs and practices by making adjustments to schedules that honor the Program's commitment to the integrity of its educational curriculum and patient care and does not burden the faculty or affect the general residency population involved in that educational activity. The Houseofficer who is excused from a scheduled educational activity because of religious observance will be required to make it up at another time. Each institution may have its own policies on the observations of religious practices and accommodation. Residents are subject to the rules of each institution to which they rotate.

#### SAFETY/SECURITY

UNM HSC and the affiliated hospitals will make efforts to provide a safe and secure work environment. Callrooms at the VAMC and UH are equipped with panic buttons in each sleeping room. The callrooms on the 6th floor of UH are accessible by Houseofficers' UNM HSC ID badge. The hallways are monitored, and the callrooms are located away from patient and visitor areas. Escorts to your automobile are available after hours by calling UH Security at 272-2160. Suspicious activities at UH should be reported to security at 272-2160, campus police (designated as part of the city police department) at 277-2241, or by dialing 911 if appropriate. UH Security is located on the ground floor of UH behind the Welcome Desk.

UNM shall make safety training available to all Houseofficers who work at a UNM facility, and/or web based on-line safety training. Houseofficers who staff the Emergency Department and Psychiatric Emergency Department shall receive training on how to de-escalate violent patients. University Hospitals Code Silver is available at the following link under Administration then General:

# https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet7/apps/doc management/index.cfm? project id=1

Personal protection equipment including masks, gloves, gowns, goggles, safety leads, and other appropriate equipment shall be available to each Houseofficer, to use as needed. Houseofficers shall be integrated into UNM's infection control program. The literature, seminars, and other educational tools prepared by this program, when appropriate, shall be made available to the Houseofficers. The protocols for blood borne pathogens, developed by the infection control program, shall be given to the Houseofficers.

#### STUDENT LOAN DEFERMENTS

Many loans that Houseofficers received as students may be deferred for periods of time while in an accredited training program. Contact your lender to request the appropriate forms. All forms requesting deferment should be directed through the Office of Graduate Medical Education for authorized signatures.

#### TUITION REIMBURSEMENT

Regular full-time Houseofficers shall be eligible for reimbursement of tuition at the University of New Mexico for up to 8 credit hours per semester (4 credit hours in summer) based on main campus graduate student rates. Tuition reimbursement may be used toward furthering medical academic education in the UNM HSC Masters in Clinical Research program, Masters in Public Health, Masters in Business Administration, Masters in Education or any course approved by the institution which demonstrates or adds to the knowledge base of any of the ACGME Clinical Competencies (Patient Care, Medical Knowledge, Professionalism, Interpersonal and Communication Skills, System Based Practice and Practice Based Learning and Improvement) and which leads to the successful completion of an ABMS certification by meeting accreditation requirements not otherwise fulfilled by the program.

To be eligible for reimbursement, Houseofficers must successfully complete these courses for academic credit toward a terminal or advanced degree in a health-related field or be ACGME Clinical Competency courses as outlined above.

Reimbursement will be provided through submission of receipts as soon as signup for the courses occurs. GME will make a good faith effort to reimburse Houseofficers within thirty days. If the Houseofficer does not complete the course, they will reimburse the Office of GME within a week of non-completion. Proof of successful completion of the course shall be provided to GME. Those who do not provide documentation of successful completion of coursework will not be eligible for further reimbursement until they comply. Benefits do not extend to spouses or dependent children.

#### **UNIFORMS**

Departments will provide white coats and laundry of these coats. The linen room is on the second floor of the University Hospital where residents must register to get access to scrub machines. Scrubs are available to all Houseofficers at machines located at designated locations in the hospital.

#### VETERANS EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE

Application forms for benefits under the GI Bill are available on the GME web site. The certifying official is also in this office.

### 403(b) PLAN

In order for Houseofficers to begin developing their personal retirement funds, the University has tax-deferred plans, which include IRA and IRA Roth accounts available. For information, regarding participating plans and enrollment instructions, please contact the Office of Graduate Medical Education 272-6225 or the UNM Payroll Department at 277-2353. Employer does not match funds.

# **PROCEDURES**

#### **ACCESS TO FILES**

Houseofficers shall have the right to access and review all documents in their academic, departmental, and employment files during the term of their appointment, excluding pre-employment references. Request for copies of files must be made to the Office of the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education. Copies of files will be provided within three (3) business days of written request by the Houseofficer where reasonable need has been established.

Houseofficers shall have the right to review all materials placed in his or her file at any time, both by appointment and at a regularly or specifically scheduled evaluation or counseling session with program faculty. The Houseofficer may place in his or her file a response to any file entries or report and may withdraw his or her response at any time. Any adverse documents not made available to the Houseofficer may not be considered in any disciplinary or arbitration hearing during employment at UNM. In addition, any adverse documents not made available to the Houseofficer shall not in any way be considered in any form of evaluation or communication by UNM during employment at UNM or regarding any other employment, including but not limited to future employment following training at UNM.

Written evaluations of Houseofficers shall be performed regularly after each rotation, by an attending physician who has direct, continuous contact with the Houseofficer. Evaluations shall be conducted in a timeframe and format acceptable to the Review Committee, specialty board, or other accredited/accrediting body and disclosure in advance to the Houseofficer. A copy of any evaluations shall be accessible to the Houseofficer online and place in his or her file within a reasonable time after completion or after rotation.

## ATTORNEY CONTACT (Attorneys Not Representing UNM)

If you are served with a summons. complaint, or a subpoena regarding medical malpractice, employment issues or other issues that are within the scope and duty of your responsibilities as a Houseofficer at UNM, notify your Program immediately, who should then contact the GME Office, Division Chief or Department Chair. The program and/or GME will contact the Office of University Counsel ("OUC") immediately. All requests for information made by attorneys or investigators outside of UNM should be directed to Office of University Counsel at 272-2377. Do not engage in discussions with outside attorneys without first contacting OUC.

## BLOOD/BODY FLUID EXPOSURES AND INCIDENT REPORTING

## **Blood/Body Fluid Exposures (BFE)**

For current procedure, please see: https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet/ohs/fluid\_exposures.shtml

All exposure to blood or other potentially infectious materials (needle sticks, splash to mucous membranes or exposure to non-intact skin) must be evaluated

and treated as soon as possible, preferably within two hours of exposure. Trainees must be released immediately to seek treatment.

If the Houseofficer has a blood/body fluid exposure at UNM/UNMH, he/she should undergo appropriate first aid and inform the immediate supervisor of the area in which the exposure occurred (e.g., the charge nurse). The Houseofficer should obtain the BFE checklist and report to Employee Occupation Health Services (EOHS) at 2400 Tucker NE, FMC 232 (Family Medicine Building) if during normal working hours, or the Emergency Department after hours. Employee Occupational Health can be reached at 272-8043. If during normal working hours, the Houseofficer is unable to access EOHS, the Houseofficer may also have the initial visit with UNMH Occupational Health Services (OHS) at 5 North in UH Main Hospital. As part of this process, Houseofficers should fill out a BFE Checklist, accessible at the nursing.

Houseofficers with blood/body fluid exposures at other facilities should follow the appropriate procedures at that facility; subsequent follow up will take place at EOHS.

## **Incident Reporting**

All injuries or infectious disease contacts by disease of human blood or prevention exposure of Houseofficers while on duty must be reported to the Workers' Compensation Office, 277-0312 and the Employee Occupational Health Services, 272-8043 on the appropriate incident report forms. The Workmen's Compensation form is available in the clinics, nursing stations, emergency room, operating rooms, and online at the GME website at <a href="https://srs.unm.edu/risk-services/workers-compensation.html">https://srs.unm.edu/risk-services/workers-compensation.html</a>.

Accidents must be reported to the Program Director and Program Coordinator as well as to EOHS and Workers' Compensation Office.

## COMPLAINTS/RESPONSIBILITY OF ASSOCIATE DEAN/GME

In the event a complaint is lodged by a patient or staff regarding a Houseofficer, the GME Office is charged with the obligation to investigate and report back to the appropriate authority (UNMH, VAMC, SOM, Department) any findings and recommendations. This responsibility may be delegated to Program Directors, Chief Residents, and/or designees. Designees may include investigatory bodies including Office of Equal Opportunity, Information Assurance, Human Resources, Compliance, Privacy, and/or any other entity tasked with internal investigations. This is a Medicare requirement.

## COMPLAINTS/LEARNER MISTREATMENT

The University of New Mexico School of Medicine is committed to providing its learners with a secure learning environment that reflects courtesy, civility, and respect. A respectful learning environment exhibits and promotes:

- Professionalism:
- Respect for individual rights, diversity, and differences;
- Confidentiality and trust;
- Protection of civil discourse without fear of retaliation;
- Freedom from bullying or intimidation.

Interactions between teachers and evaluators (on the one hand) and learners (on the other) in the education programs offered by the SOM are guided by principles of mutual trust, respect, ethics, and professionalism. All UNM SOM learners have the right to study, learn, and work in an environment free from harassment, threats, intimidation, or bullying. Depending on their role, residents and fellows can be learners and/or teachers.

#### **Definition of mistreatment**

The American Associate of Medical Colleges (AAMC) defines mistreatment as the following:

"Mistreatment, either intentional or unintentional, occurs when behavior shows disrespect for the dignity of others and unreasonably interferes with the learning process. Examples of mistreatment include sexual harassment; discrimination or harassment based on race, religion, ethnicity, gender, or sexual orientation; humiliation, psychological or physical punishment and the use of grading and other forms of assessment in a punitive manner."

## Process for seeking guidance about and reporting mistreatment

Residents and fellows may seek guidance and support from within their programs or any trusted advisor, such as:

Program Director, Chief Resident, or other faculty or staff

Division Chief or Department Chair

Joanna R. Fair, MD, PhD, DIO, Associate Dean of GME, jfair@salud.unm.edu

Liz Lawrence, MD, FACP, Director, UNM SOM Office of Physician and Student Wellness, <u>ELawrence@salud.unm.edu</u>

Eileen Barrett, MD, MPH, FACP, GME Wellness Director, <u>EBarrett@salud.unm.edu</u> Any other person you would feel comfortable talking to about the situation

The Learning Environment Office staff are also here to listen and provide support: Diana Martinez, MPH, Director, Learning Environment Office, <a href="deemb@salud.unm.edu">deemb@salud.unm.edu</a>

Felisha Rohan-Minjares, MD, Chief Learning Environment Officer, UME, and Assistant Dean of UME. FRohan-Minjares@salud.unm.edu

Joanna Fair, MD, PhD, Chief Learning Environment Officer, GME, and Associate Dean of GME, <u>ifair@salud.unm.edu</u>

If you wish to report mistreatment, you may report directly (in person or via email) to a Learning Environment Office staff member, or via a web-based, confidential reporting tool at <a href="http://goto.unm.edu/leo">http://goto.unm.edu/leo</a>. You have the option via this tool to report anonymously; your report will be followed up by the office, although the office will not be able provide you with direct feedback on how your concern was addressed.

All reports made to the Learning Environment Office will remain confidential, and your identity will be protected, to the fullest extent possible. When you complete this report, notification will be sent to the Learning Environment Office staff, who will initiate further action and provide follow up, to the extent allowable by policy and law.

#### Additional mechanisms available to Houseofficers with concerns

- All residents and fellows invited to serve on the Resident Council, which meets monthly to discuss topics of interest or concern to residents and includes resident-only sessions. The Resident Council Chairs can report raised issues to the Associate Dean of GME in a de-identified fashion. Residents and fellows are welcome to discuss concerns either in the open forum or with their Resident Council representative or a Resident Council Chair. The names of the current representatives and chairs can be found by contacting UNM GME at 272-6225.
- The UNM Office of Equal Opportunity (<a href="https://oeo.unm.edu/">https://oeo.unm.edu/</a>) receives and investigates Title IX and Title VII (harassment and discrimination) concerns. Per policy, UNM faculty and staff have a duty to report any such concern to OEO. OEO handles all concerns confidentially to the extent allowable by policy and circumstances.
- The UNM main campus Ombuds office serves as a resource for confidential, independent, informal, and neutral dispute resolution (<a href="https://ombudsforstaff.unm.edu/">https://ombudsforstaff.unm.edu/</a>); faculty and residents/fellows can be referred for assistance.

## **DISASTER POLICY**

In case of a disaster, UNM HSC has developed an emergency operations plan, which can be found on the UNM Hospital Emergency Management webpage (<a href="https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet//EmergencyMgmt/index.shtml">https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet//EmergencyMgmt/index.shtml</a>). Please refer to this webpage for information on procedures related to disasters. Additionally, in the event of a disaster, all updates as to which personnel are to report to work will be posted on this page.

Since the 2005 Hurricane Katrina disaster, the need for such a plan has become apparent and is a Joint Commission and Accreditation Council of Graduate Medical Education requirement. The UNM Hospital Chief Executive Officer, UNM HSC Physician in Chief, and the Vice Chancellor for Health Sciences, in conjunction with the Emergency Operations Director, will declare a state of emergency at UNM HSC.

In the case of a disaster in which UNM HSC is still a functioning hospital system, residents and fellows must be expected to perform according to the professional expectations of them as physicians, taking into account their degree of competence, level of training, and context of the specific situation. Residents will get further instruction from their residency program leadership as to changes in schedule as a result of the disaster. These updates will also be posted to the Emergency Management webpage. Clinical affairs may reassign physicians and residents through the Emergency Operations Director based on clinical needs. Residents who are fully licensed in the State of New Mexico may be able to provide patient care independent of supervision in the event of an extreme emergent situation. Residents are also trainees/students. Residents and fellows should not be first-line responders without consideration of their level of training and competence.

In the case of a disaster requiring evacuation of the UNM HSC, but in which services and communication are intact, all communications will be conducted via the Emergency Management Webpage. Additionally, alerts will be sent to all HSC staff, including Houseofficers, via the emergency paging system, LOBOalerts, UNM Emergency Management Webpage, and UNM HSC Emergency Management Webpage, as appropriate.

UNM affiliated hospitals such as Presbyterian Hospital and the Albuquerque VA Hospital can also activate the Emergency Operations Center at UNM HSC. Instructions for response by Houseofficers will also be posted on the UNM HSC Emergency Management webpage in these circumstances.

In the event of a devastating disaster that renders UNM HSC non-functional, has developed a partnership with the University of Arizona to provide information, support, and communications in case such resources become unavailable due to the disaster. In the case of loss of our communication system and evacuation, we

will partner with the University of Arizona to post information on their GME website and work together to find accommodations for our residents. We would also set up a connected administrative structure in Tucson at the University of Arizona. We would similarly help to provide accommodations to the University of Arizona should a disaster requiring evacuation befall them.

**Conrad Clemens, MD**, from the University of Arizona is the coordinator of the University of Arizona GME communications plan with the help of his staff. <a href="http://medicine.arizona.edu/education/graduate">http://medicine.arizona.edu/education/graduate</a> or 520-626-7878.

**Joanna R. Fair, MD, PhD,** from the University of New Mexico, is the coordinator of UNM GME communications plans with the help of her staff. http://som.unm.edu/education/gme/ - 505-272-6225

Thus, our GME Disaster Plan is the following:

- 1. Notification -
  - The UNM Vice Chancellor of Health Sciences will declare a disaster and begin the implementation of the HSC Disaster Plan, including activities of the Emergency Operations Center. Residents will be expected to respond as part of their appropriate departmental response per the HSC Disaster Plan. Notifications will be via UNM Emergency Management pager messages, LOBO Alerts, emails, and UNM and UNM HSC Emergency Management webpage updates.
- 2. Communication The UNM HSC Emergency Management Webpage will be used to communicate with all Houseofficers, students and faculty. The HSC website will be responsible for providing timely updates. In case the HSC website becomes inoperable, the University of Arizona GME website will be utilized to provide information to all UNM residents and students. Residents and students will be instructed concerning this backup mechanism at orientation. As soon as possible, the UNM and UNM HSC websites will be reactivated for communications. UNM will provide a similar back-up system for University of Arizona Health Sciences Center in case of a disaster at that campus.
- Relocation (if required) Residents will initially be accommodated in Tucson at the University of Arizona. After assessment of the extent of the disaster, other long-term accommodations may be necessary. The Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education and staff will accompany residents to Tucson. Similarly, UNM will accommodate University of Arizona residents and students in the case of a disaster in Tucson.

4. Placement Assistance – If placement of residents becomes necessary, the UNM GME offices will contact the ACGME within 10 days of the disaster to ask for assistance in the placement of residents with the least disruption to the training programs depending upon the anticipated length of time for the resolution of the disaster situation. If the disaster affects a subset of the residency programs at UNM, as determined by the Program administration and the UNM GME office, then notification of the ACGME for specific programs will occur.

## FALSE CLAIMS ACT (Deficit Reduction Act)

Training of the Federal False Claims Act and the NM Medicaid False Claims Act is required pursuant to the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (DRA). Both Statutes cover fraud involving federally funded contracts or programs (i.e., Medicare and/or Medicaid) and establish liability for any person who knowingly presents or causes to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for payment. The Qui Tam ("whistleblower") provisions encourage people, with actual knowledge of allegedly false claims, to come forward and report the misconduct. Whistleblowers are protected from retaliation by both statutes, as well as, by UNM Business Policy 2200, Reporting Misconduct and Retaliation. You may anonymously report internally using the toll-free 24/7 contracted HSC Compliance Hotline at 1-888-899-6092.

For more information on the DRA, please review the PowerPoint presentation entitled "Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (DRA)" on the HSC Compliance web page at:

https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/DeficitReductionAct/index.html

## GRIFVANCE PROCEDURE

This procedure pertains to disciplinary action including probation, suspension, termination based on academic, professional (as defined in the Code of Professional Conduct policy in this Manual), or clinical performance or competency, or non-renewal of contract. Please see the most recent CIR/SEIU Collective Bargaining Agreement for guidance regarding grievances for discipline issued for reasons other than academic, clinical, or professional (as defined in the Code of Professional Conduct policy in this Manual) matters.

 Purpose: To secure, at the lowest possible level, equitable solutions to individual grievances that may arise regarding terms and conditions of a Houseofficer's participation in a training program.

## 2. Definitions:

- a. A grievance shall mean a complaint by a Houseofficer, and/or Houseofficer and the CIR/SEIU, alleging that action or inaction by the University has, in a substantial way, adversely affected his or her progress in the educational program, threatened their intended career development, wrongfully deprived him or her and of the compensation owed by the University under this Agreement, is related to the Houseofficer's academic or clinical environment, or related to the Houseofficer's training program or faculty.
- b. The term "grievance" as pertains to this grievance procedure shall not be construed to apply in the following instances:
  - (1) Questions about whether or not a University policy or practice is good, bad, wise, unwise, etc. Concerns about such matters must be pursued by other means.
  - (2) Matters beyond the authority or control of the University, or beyond the University's ability to provide a remedy.
  - (3) Termination or suspension due to the exhaustion of funds as determined by the Dean of the School of Medicine (see section on Resident Reduction/Closure).
  - (4) A Houseofficer's being placed on remediation under the terms of this Manual.
  - (5) Discipline or dismissal for alleged administrative misconduct. Please see the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the University of New Mexico and the Committee on Interns and Residents/SEIU under such circumstances.
  - (6) Referrals to the New Mexico Monitored Treatment Program, referrals to an emergent psychiatric assessment pursuant to the Mandated Behavioral Assessment and Counseling policy herein, or referral to a drug screening.
- 3. Preliminary Procedure: No matter shall be submitted for the grievance procedure unless informal resolution has been attempted between the Houseofficer and the Houseofficer's Program Director. If the Program Director is personally involved in the matter, then the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education or their designee shall be substituted for the Program Director. The parties shall make a good faith effort to resolve the grievance in an informal manner. If the grievance is not resolved, the Houseofficer may proceed to Step 1 of the grievance procedure.

## 4. Step 1.

a. The grievance shall be submitted within ten (10) calendar days following the grievable event, or within ten (10) calendar days after the Houseofficer becomes aware of such event, whichever is longer. All parties must agree upon any deviation from the 10 day time limit.

- b. The grievance shall be in writing and must contain a statement of the grievance, the facts upon which it is based, information describing the attempt to resolve the matter in accordance with Section 3 of this policy, and the remedy sought.
- c. The grievance shall be filed with the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education or designee.
- d. The grievance shall be heard by a committee (voting members) consisting of
  - (1) an uninvolved Houseofficer appointed by the Resident Council,
  - (2) two training Program Directors from other programs who have not been involved in the dispute, or, if one or both Program Directors are not available, substitute faculty member(s) involved in medical education shall be appointed in the alternative. Alternate faculty appointee(s) must be SOM faculty in the field of clinical medical practice and must be mutually acceptable to the other members of the committee. The Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education shall be the Chairperson of the committee, shall attend to the administrative matters of the grievance, may participate in the deliberations but shall not have a vote. The grievant's Program Director or their designee will be present at the committee hearing but shall not vote. The committee may be advised by faculty members who specialized in fields which would be of assistance to voting members. Those providing advice are nonvoting members. If the committee has not been formed within ten (10) days of the filing of the grievance, the Executive Vice Dean of the School of Medicine shall make the necessary appointments as soon as practicable.
- The committee shall hear the case as promptly as is practicable with e. due notice to all parties. The parties are required to exert their best efforts to commence the hearing within twenty-one (21) calendar days after the grievance is filed or as soon thereafter as is practicable. The parties to the grievance may submit evidence and argument in writing, in person, or both. Either party may employ attorneys or other advisers to assist them in the presentation of the case, but such attorneys or other advisors shall act in an advisory capacity only, and shall have no right or opportunity to advocate directly to the committee on that party's behalf. The purpose of the meeting will be to obtain factual information from the Houseofficer. The grievant Houseofficer shall present his/her case and stand for questioning. The committee shall keep a record of the case and may, in its sole discretion, make or arrange to have made an audio, video, transcriptional, or other recording of any oral presentation made before it.

- f. The committee shall decide whether the subject is grievable pursuant to the terms of his policy. At such time as the committee decides that the matter is not grievable, the Houseofficer shall be so notified and the proceedings stopped and/or the grievance summarily denied.
  - The decision of the committee in this regard is final.
- g. The committee is authorized to decide the grievance and to provide for a remedy to carry out its decision.
- h. The grievance shall be decided by a majority vote of the voting committee. The decision shall be rendered in writing and, once rendered in writing, shall be delivered immediately to the Houseofficer in person or, if he or she is not immediately available, a copy of the decision shall be sent by Certified Mail to the Houseofficer's last known address of record kept at the School of Medicine.

## 5. Step 2.

- a. If the Houseofficer or the Program Director is dissatisfied with the decision of the committee in Step 1, he or she may appeal the decision to the Executive Vice Dean of the School of Medicine. Appeals are limited to 1) alleged violations of the Houseofficer's rights as provided for in this grievance procedure or 2) new information potentially applicable to the decision that was not available to the Houseofficer at the time the committee rendered the decision.
- b. The Houseofficer shall submit the notice of appeal in writing to the Executive Vice Dean and a copy thereof to the Office of GME within five (5) calendar days following the decision in Step 1. That written notice shall state the basis for the requested appeal as provided for in Section 5(a) of this Grievance Procedure.
- c. The Executive Vice Dean shall review the record of the case as presented to the committee in Step 1. The Dean may call for further evidence or argument at his/her discretion.
- d. The Executive Vice Dean may affirm, reverse, or modify the decision. The decision of the Executive Vice Dean is final.

## **HIPAA**

HIPAA training and certification is required annually of all Houseofficer physicians for each location they are assigned in accordance with the institutional policy. UNMH HIPAA training is online at:

https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/learning/user/login.jsp

Violation of HIPAA requirements through viewing of protected patient information that is not part of a patient care activity may result in discipline, up to and including termination from Graduate Medical Education programs and is a violation of professionalism standards.

## HSC IDENTIFICATION

HSC Identification badges are the official photo identification for all Houseofficers. UNM HSC ID badges must be worn at all times when training or when representing UNM HSC. Houseofficers are expected to display appropriate photo ID when on duty. UNM Hospital Security will assess a replacement fee of \$20 for all lost badges. Stolen badges should be reported to Hospital Security (272-2160) immediately.

Houseofficer's HSC ID Badges have a LoboCard code, which allows Houseofficers to take advantage of the following at a free or discounted rate:

- University tennis courts
- Medical Library North Campus
- UNMH 6th floor work room
- Domenici buildings and gym
- Zimmerman Library and satellite libraries
- Johnson Gymnasium facilities (spouse/dependent cards are available from Leisure Services at the gym with a small charge per semester)
- North Golf Course
- HSC Lockshop Key Service
- LOBO PERKS http://loboperks.unm.edu/

## INFECTION CONTROL

All Houseofficers receive training on basic infection control at new Houseofficer orientation, including the principles of Standard Precautions, patient isolation, and hand hygiene. Houseofficers temporarily unable to perform routine hand hygiene in the course of patient care should be reassigned to non-patient care duties.

Houseofficers may be contacted by Infection Control regarding the potential exposures from patients and are expected to comply with prompt follow-up and treatment at Employee Occupational Health Services. Houseofficers are encouraged to report potential exposures to Infection Control/Hospital Epidemiology.

Questions or concerns regarding isolation, nosocomial infections, exposure, or diseases reportable to the State Department of Health may be addressed to Infection Control staff at UH at 272-0131 or VAMC 265-1711 ext. 4575 or ext.4363, as well as Hospital Epidemiologist at pager 951-3000.

## MANDATED BEHAVIORAL ASSESSMENT AND COUNSELING

- 1. If a UNM GME Program Director or designee, in their sole discretion, identifies the need for a mandatory behavioral assessment of a Houseofficer, the Program Director or designee will notify the Houseofficer, make an emergent referral of the Houseofficer to the Psychiatry Faculty Practice for emergent assessment, and will remove the Houseofficer from clinical responsibilities until the initial assessment has been completed and a report has been received of that assessment. As part of this assessment, a drug screen may be required, and referral to the New Mexico Health Professional Wellness Program (formerly known as the NM Monitored Treatment Program) may result. https://www.nmhpwp.com/
- 2. The Houseofficer shall be seen by a mutually agreeable psychiatrist as soon as arrangements can be made, preferably within 48 hours of the emergent referral.
- 3. The psychiatrist(s) performing such assessments will
  - a. Meet with the Houseofficer
  - Clearly notify the Houseofficer of the psychiatrist's dual reporting responsibility to the Houseofficer and the University (i.e., reporting both to the Houseofficer and to the referring Program Director or designee)
  - c. Provide an initial psychiatric assessment, focusing on the presence or absence of psychiatric illness that might interfere with the Houseofficer's ability to be safe at work and provide safe patient care.
    - If the Houseofficer is determined not to have such a psychiatric illness:
      - The psychiatrist will notify the Program Director what, if any, conditions should be placed on the Houseofficer to return to duty, including, as appropriate, recommended time limitations for these conditions.
      - If the Program Director feels such conditions are inappropriate in the context of the Houseofficer's training, the matter should be referred to the Associate Dean for GME for resolution.
      - 3. The psychiatrist performing the initial assessment may recommend additional evaluations/treatment to the

- Houseofficer. Should the psychiatrist make recommendations, they will help identify available resources for such evaluations or treatment and will assist with those referral(s).
- Ongoing psychiatric care will not be provided by the psychiatrist making the emergent assessment under this policy.
- 5. As necessary, the psychiatrist performing the mandated assessment will develop a "behavioral contract", with input from the referring Program Director, which the Houseofficer must sign as a condition for returning to duty.
- ii. If it is determined that a Houseofficer has a psychiatric condition that compromises the safety of the Houseofficer or of patients and other members of the health care team, the psychiatrist:
  - Will notify the Program Director and the Office of GME that such a condition exists. If the resident requires leave, the resident must communicate this with the Program Director:
  - May recommend additional evaluations/treatment to the Houseofficer, will help identify available resources for such evaluations or treatment, and will assist with those referrals, but will not be the provider of such evaluations or treatment; and
  - 3. Will provide re-assessments as necessary.
- d. Will document all assessments in accordance with UNM HSC Bylaws for medical documentation.
- e. If the assessing psychiatrist suspects substance abuse, will notify the Program Director. The Program Director, in their sole discretion, may then refer the Houseofficer for testing and/or to the New Mexico New Mexico Health Professional Wellness Program (formerly known as the NM Monitored Treatment Program).
- 4. If, in their sole discretion, the Program Director mandates the Houseofficer to participate in an emergent referral as provided under this policy, the Houseofficer will not be subject to any out-of-pocket cost for such mandated behavioral assessments. Such assessments may be provided by the UNM Department of Psychiatry or, in the case of a Psychiatry Resident, a designated community psychiatrist mutually agreed-to by the Psychiatry Department and the UNM Office of GME. The costs of any additional evaluations or treatment recommended as a result of a mandated emergent referral and behavioral assessment made under this policy will be the financial responsibility of the Houseofficer. The Office of GME will be available to assist the Houseofficer with processing medical insurance claims and with identifying other available

resources (including financial resources) for such additional evaluations or treatment.

- 5. As a condition of returning to their training program, Houseofficers will instruct any individuals or agencies providing additional evaluations or treatment outside of the initial emergent referral and behavioral assessment, including ongoing behavioral care, engaged in as a consequence of or directly related to a mandated behavioral assessment made under this policy, to notify, as appropriate, the Houseofficer's Program Director that the Houseofficer is ready for re-assessment of their ability to work and any recommended conditions on or limitations to the Houseofficer's ability to perform the essential functions of their positions that may be required.
- 6. Houseofficers may request medical leave as a consequence of or directly related to an emergent referral or behavioral assessment made pursuant to this policy. Such requests must be made pursuant to the policies in this Manual. Houseofficers whose medical leave is granted as a consequence of or directly related to an emergent referral or behavioral assessment made pursuant to this policy that extends beyond 12 months will be required to reapply for admission to their UNM residency or fellowship program should they wish to resume their GME training at UNM following the completion of such leave.
- 7. Failure to comply with any provision of this policy, including but not limited to failure or refusal to comply with a referral to an emergent assessment, failure or refusal to comply with a referral to the New Mexico Health Professional Wellness Program (formerly known as the NM Monitored Treatment Program), or failure or refusal to timely communicate with the Program Director and/or GME of compliance with such referrals, may result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the Houseofficer's training program.

#### OSHA TRAINING

The Federal Government requires annual training of all personnel who may be exposed to blood borne diseases. New Houseofficers receive this training as part of their orientation day activities. All Houseofficers must complete annual certification. Web based OSHA training is available at both UNM and VA sites. The UNM online training resides under Learning Central on the main UNM HSC website <a href="https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/">https://learningcentral.health.unm.edu/</a>. The VA online training resides on the VA Internet under "Clinical", then under "Computer Based Training" as "Physician OSHA Blood borne pathogens (with test)". Upon completion of the webbased training, Houseofficers may print out a certificate of completion and forward it to the GME Office. Houseofficers taking the refresher training should log in after the third week in July to ensure that they are entered in the online training system. Houseofficers who are not in compliance may be suspended from duty without pay until they provide documentation of having taken the training.

## WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION AND REPORTING SUSPECTED MISCONDUCT AND RETAILATION

Members of the University community are expected, and in some cases required, to report suspected misconduct that comes to their attention. Persons who report suspected misconduct, in good faith, are afforded whistleblower protection from retaliation by the University for such reporting.

For more information, see University Policy 2200: <a href="http://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2200.html">http://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2200.html</a>)

## **REQUIREMENTS**

## **BOARD FLIGIBILITY**

Each ACGME program will provide trainees with a written policy in compliance with its Program Requirements concerning the effect of leaves of absence, for any reason, on satisfying the criteria for completion of the residency program, and information relating to access to eligibility for certification by the relevant certifying board.

## COMPLETION OF TRAINING

Contracts for Houseofficers are awarded annually and do not extend beyond an academic year. Houseofficers who begin a training program at the University of New Mexico may reasonably expect to complete their training at this institution provided their academic progress and performance is satisfactory, moral and ethical behavior is appropriate, and funds are available.

#### CONSENSUAL RELATIONSHIPS IN MEDICAL EDUCATION

Interactions between teachers/evaluators and learners in medical education programs sponsored by the University of New Mexico School of Medicine are guided by mutual trust, confidence, and professional ethics. Professional teacher/learner relationships have a power differential between the teacher and the learner; personal relationships between those who teach and evaluate and those who learn carry a number of risks: conflict of interest, breach of trust, abuse of power, perception of favoritism, and breach of professional ethics. When any of these occur, there is disruption of the dynamics of the health care team, with consequent potential loss of quality patient care and medical education. Those interactions with power differential include, but are not limited to

faculty/student, faculty/resident, faculty/fellow, fellow/resident, supervising resident/subordinate resident, resident/student. For the purpose of this policy, those in the position of greater power will be termed teacher and those who are in the position of lesser power will be termed learner.

#### A. Definitions

- Faculty, for the purposes of this policy only, is defined as full or part-time faculty and all other personnel who evaluate resident/fellow performance.
- 2. Residents/fellows are all full time or part time residents/fellows.
- 3. Medical Student refers to any student enrolled in a course approved by the School of Medicine.
- 4. A consensual relationship is any dating, romantic, sexual, or marriage relationship.
- 5. Position of authority includes situations in which the teacher is responsible for an evaluation of the performance of a learner.

## B. Policy

Teachers shall not engage in consensual relationships with learners whenever the teacher has professional position of authority with respect to learner matters that involve teaching or evaluation of learners' performance, as part of the medical education program. Should a consensual relationship develop, or appear likely to develop, while the teacher is in a position of authority, the teacher and/or the learner shall terminate the position of authority. Even when the teacher has no professional responsibility for a learner, the teacher should be sensitive to the perceptions of other learners, that a learner who has a consensual relationship with a teacher may receive preferential treatment from the teacher or the teacher's colleagues. This policy will apply to relationships between teachers and learners during residency rotations/experiences in which the performance of the resident/fellow as part of their approved curriculum is being evaluated, and during all graduate medical education rotations/experiences.

#### C. Procedures

When a consensual relationship, as defined above, exists or develops, the teacher should avoid or terminate his/her position of authority with respect to the learner. Avoidance or termination includes, but is not limited

to, the evaluation being performed by another qualified teacher; the position of authority being assumed by an alternative teacher; transfer of the learner to another rotation, etc.

## D. Non-Compliance with Policy

Any credible allegation of a teacher's failure to avoid or terminate a position of authority with regard to a learner while in a consensual relationship obligates the Department Chair, Program Director or other responsible person to conduct a prompt and thorough inquiry to determine whether the allegation is true. Where it is concluded that a position of authority in a consensual relationship exists and the involved person refuses to terminate the position of authority, the Department Chair or Program Director shall terminate the position of authority and can impose sanctions against parties involved.

#### E. Sanctions

Persons in violation of this policy shall be subject to sanctions ranging from verbal warnings to dismissal or termination. Persons who knowingly make false allegations that consensual relationship overlaps with a position of authority shall be subject to the same sanctions.

## CONSENSUAL RELATIONSHIPS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

(See also UNM Policy 2215 <a href="https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2215.html">https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2215.html</a>)

## RESIDENT REDUCTION — CLOSURE

In the event of a termination, transfer, or reduction in size of a residency program UNM will follow all ACGME guidelines and assist in placing affected Houseofficers in other accredited residency programs of the same specialty. The sponsoring institution will inform the GMEC, DIO, and the Residents as soon as possible and residents as soon as possible when a reduction in size or closure occurs. In addition, at the time UNM informs residents of a termination, transfer, or reduction of residency program, UNM shall provide resources including but not limited to contact names, addresses, and phone numbers that may be helpful in a Houseofficer's search for placement. In such event, UNM shall continue to pay the salaries of displaced Houseofficer for the remainder of the residency year or until said Houseofficers are placed in other salaried and accredited residency programs at another facility if such placement is within the residency year.

For HSOs continuing in a program for which accreditation is lost, UNM will maintain levels of training, continue to provide rotations required for certification while under the ACGME appeals process, and add ancillary and professional staff to cover losses in HSO coverage. UNM shall take reasonable steps to balance the service needs of the department with the professional goals of the HSOs involved.

## DRUG SCREENING

Drug screening (pre-rotation) is required at some hospitals under affiliation agreements with the University of New Mexico. Compliance is mandatory for those rotations. Forms and information must be obtained through the GME Office. As long as the Houseofficer complies with the drug screening requirements of the affiliated healthcare facility, and so long as the Houseofficer's screen results are negative, GME will send a letter to the affiliated hospital stating that the Houseofficer has met the drug screening eligibility requirements of the affiliated hospital.

Drug screens may also be required of any Houseofficer as part of an investigation of impairment as per the Physician Impairment policy in this Manual, as part of an emergent psychological review as per the Mandated Behavioral Assessment and Counseling policy in this Manual, as part of an investigation into allegations of a Houseofficer's misconduct or behavior, or as part of an investigation of allegations of missing narcotics. In the event of allegations of missing narcotics during a Houseofficer's rotation at the University of New Mexico Hospital or its associated or affiliated clinics or an affiliated hospital or healthcare facility, the Houseofficer is subject to that hospital's or healthcare facility's policies and procedures for drug testing. Any allegation of impairment or involvement in an investigation into missing narcotics may result in a referral to the New Mexico Monitored Treatment Program.

In the event that drug screening is mandatory, whether as part of an affiliation agreement with a healthcare facility, as required by a Houseofficer's Program Director, as a part of an investigation of narcotics at a hospital or healthcare facility, or for any other reason, failure to comply with any part of such drug screening process may result in disciplinary action, up to and including the withdrawal of employment offer or dismissal from the Houseofficer's training program. Failure to comply with a referral to the New Mexico Monitored Treatment Program may result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the Houseofficer's training program. A Houseofficer's failure to properly and/or timely notify their Program Director or GME of their compliance with a referral to a drug screening or a referral to the New Mexico Monitored Treatment Program may be interpreted as non-compliance with the referral and may therefore result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the Houseofficer's training program.

## **EDUCATIONAL ACTIVITIES**

Houseofficers are required to fully participate in the teaching programs and in the educational activities of their individual departments under the guidance and direction of the Department Chairman, Program Director and the Chief of Service to which they are assigned. Houseofficers should develop a personal program of learning to foster professional growth under guidance of teaching staff, participate in institutional and departmental committees that affect their education and patient care, and participate in educational activities developed and supported by the institution. The educational experience should not be compromised by excessive reliance on residents to fulfill non-physician service obligations.

#### FI IGIBII ITY

Members of the University community are expected, and in some cases (such as child abuse) required, to report suspected misconduct that comes to their attention. Persons who report suspected misconduct, in good faith, are afforded whistleblower protection from retaliation by the University for such reporting. UNM Graduate Medical Education does not sponsor individuals for employmentbased visas, including but not limited to H-1B visas. Houseofficers who do not obtain, renew, or maintain valid work authorization will not be allowed to participate in their residency or fellowship program during the period in which work authorization is not valid. Houseofficers who are unable to obtain sponsorship or renewal of a I-1 visa through the ECFMG within sixty (60) days of their start date in a residency or fellowship program or the renewal date of the I-1 visa may be released from their training program. Houseofficers who lose their work authorization for any reason have sixty (60) days from the loss of the work authorization to obtain a valid work authorization; failure to do so may result in their release from their training program. Eligibility for training at UNM does not guarantee future eligibility for granting of an unrestricted professional license by the New Mexico Medical Board.

# HOUSEOFFICER EXCLUSIONS FROM FEDERAL PROGRAMS (OIG/GSA)

University standard and federal law requires all Houseofficers to be investigated through the US Department of Health and Human Services Office of Investigator General (OIG) and Government Services Administration (GSA). The OIG and the GSA have the authority to exclude individuals and businesses who have engaged in fraud of Medicare, Medicaid, or other Federal health care programs from receiving payment or reimbursements from a Federal health care program. Federal programs include NIH, Medicare, Medicaid, Tricare, Veteran Programs, and others. Cases for exclusion include: convictions for program related abuse,

patient abuse, licensing board actions, and default on health education assistance loans.

Houseofficers must be eligible for employment as verified by the US Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General (OIG) and the Government Services Administration (GSA). Individuals on the OIC/GSA Exclusion List will not be considered for hire. Once hired, periodical checks will be made for eligibility of continued employment. Houseofficers who appear on the list after the initial hiring will be excluded from the UNM HSC training programs. Houseofficers will have the right to the appeal process developed by the US Department of Health and Human Services Office of Investigator General.

The Office of Graduate Medical Education will be responsible for the initial check on OIG/GSA and EPLS databases. Thereafter, a periodic list of Houseofficers physicians will be provided to the HSC Compliance Office. The Houseofficers Physician Contract will include an acknowledgement by the Houseofficers that they have not been disqualified from the CMS list of physicians.

## FINGERPRINTING/BACKGROUND SCREEN/SECURITY

Fingerprinting for the purpose of background checks will be required of all Houseofficers in accordance with New Mexico Medical Board(s). Failure to comply or receive clearance for work from the New Mexico Medical Board(s) may result in the withdrawal of an employment offer or the termination of employment. UNM GME reserves the right to consider information revealed from background checks in making its hiring decisions, as allowed by law.

Residents who rotate to the VAMC will be subject to the fingerprinting process for purposes of a federal criminal background check. Compliance is mandatory for VAMC rotations.

Other information regarding background and current status may be required which is needed to comply with University, state or federal regulations and/or contractual agreements with affiliated institutions.

#### INSTITUTIONAL DEA NUMBER/PRESCRIPTION WRITING

The institutional DEA number assigned to Houseofficers covers all training program activities. UNM HSC, VAMC and all other training sites institutional DEA numbers have separate prefixes and cannot be used interchangeably. For activities outside the training program (i.e., moonlighting) Houseofficers must secure an individual DEA number. Houseofficers, without an unrestricted professional license, should write prescriptions only for patients with a medical record and with a note to that record. Prescriptions for controlled substances may

not be written using the institutional DEA number for faculty members, family members, friends, themselves, or individuals with whom they are having a sexual relationship. Violations of appropriate use of the institutional DEA number will constitute a violation of the professionalism standard requirement. Inappropriate use of the DEA number is considered professionalism misconduct and may be investigated by UNM, the Board of Pharmacy, or the New Mexico Medical Board.

Applications for individual DEA numbers are available on line at the DEA website: <a href="https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/webforms">https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/webforms</a>.

## LEVEL OF APPOINTMENT

The level of appointment is based on the role within a training program determined by the Program Director and GME upon review of application's relevant qualifications and the requirements of the ACGME Review Committee, as well as a request to the appropriate RC or certifying board of the specialty of pursuit, as appropriate.

## **LICENSURE**

The New Mexico Medical Board (NMMB), Osteopathic Board (NMOB), or Dental Board issues a training license to Houseofficers to participate in residency programs. All medical and dental residents must have a training or full license application on file with the GME office: unless they have an active, full-unrestricted professional license in the State of New Mexico, (they cannot have a pending license application). All residents must have an active medical license in order to be in residency; suspension of the medical license may result in leave without pay or other negative actions on the part of the program. Application questions must be completed in an honest manner and disclosure of misdemeanors, DWI, and other criminal arrest must be declared. This Training License is issued by the Board with the expectation that all requirements of the New Mexico Practice Act related to professional behavior, care of patients, and assurance of competency are adhered to while in training. Due to the commitment of the institution to train Houseofficers to practice in the State of New Mexico, candidates for a training license to train at UNM cannot be ineligible for a full unrestricted license in the State of New Mexico at the end of training.

For Houseofficers in good standing, all training licenses are renewed annually by the Houseofficer for the duration of the program (not to exceed eight years). NMMB training license online renewal process is located at <a href="http://www.nmmb.state.nm.us/">http://www.nmmb.state.nm.us/</a>. Houseofficers are expected to maintain the highest level of licensure once they obtain a professional license. For any activity outside the training program (i.e., Locum Tenens, moonlighting), you must have a New Mexico unrestricted license, at a minimum, to practice medicine.

In addition to training licenses, the NM Medical Board grants unrestricted professional licenses. An unrestricted license requires two years of graduate training completed in the United States and successful completion of USMLE Step III to be eligible.

The New Mexico Board of Osteopathic Medicine requires Houseofficers to obtain professional licensure after completing one year of training. Applications can be obtained from the Osteopathic Board by calling (505) 476-4622. <a href="http://www.rld.state.nm.us/boards/OsteopathicMedicine.aspx">http://www.rld.state.nm.us/boards/OsteopathicMedicine.aspx</a>.

The NMMB and NMBOM may report resident issues to the National Medical Practitioner Data Base. Houseofficers must notify the Office of Graduate Medical Education and the DIO of any complaints by patients or others filed with the NMMB and NMBOM.

## PLAGIARISM POLICY

Plagiarism is the use of another person's ideas, words, phrases, sentences, facts, graphics, charts, tables, graphs, graphics, audio-visuals, or other intellectual products without appropriately citing and crediting the original source(s). Plagiarism in any form constitutes academic misconduct and the UNM School of Medicine (UNMSOM) considers plagiarism a breach of resident professionalism, which requires appropriate administrative inquiry and response. Appropriately citing sources brings deserved credit to the work of other writers, indicates the level and quality of research conducted, provides a scientific foundation for scholarship, builds solidarity in the academic community, and facilitates the reader's ability to validate claims and pursue independent learning.

## **Examples of Plagiarism**

The following are considered examples of plagiarism but are not inclusive. It is within the discretion of the School of Medicine faculty member or program director to determine if other actions not listed here also constitute plagiarism.

- The submission of efforts of others as your own personal or group work, or scholarship.
- Use of direct quotations without the use of quotation marks or other appropriate demarcation, and/or without referencing of the source of the quotation.
- Incorrect paraphrasing information without proper citation of the source.
- Failure to provide adequate citations for material used.

- The purchase of a scholarly paper or any other academic product from the Internet or any other commercial sources and submitting it as your own work.
- Downloading work from the Internet and submitting it without citation.
- Directly copying and pasting from any source, electronic or written, into any academic assignment without explicit citation of the original source.
- Inappropriate and unattributed use of the cut/paste functions in electronic medical record documentation of clinical care.

## **Consequences of Plagiarism**

The UNMSOM considers plagiarism as academic dishonesty that violates the Medical Resident Code of Professional Conduct. The following procedure will be followed when a resident is suspected to have plagiarized.

- 1. The faculty member or program director will notify the resident verbally and in writing that there is concern regarding plagiarism.
- 2. If it is determined that plagiarism occurred, consequences may include failure of the rotation or other required activity (e.g. research project). The program director may require the resident resubmit the document of concern.
- 3. The program director will send a notification of the nature of the plagiarism and the action to the Graduate Medical Education Committee to determine if further action is warranted. The GMEC will review the incident and determine if other penalties are appropriate depending on the seriousness of the plagiarism and the context in which it occurred as well as the resident explanation. Additionally, notification will also go to the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education.
- 4. Any resident who has a second report of plagiarism will be brought before (GMEC). The GMEC will determine the appropriate action to be taken.

## PERSONNEL — BENEFITS

The UNM Office of Graduate Medical Education functions as a human resource, payroll and benefits office for Houseofficers in the training programs (see rear cover for mailing address and phone number).

## RESPECTFUL CAMPUS

UNM's commitment to a respectful campus calls for promotion of an environment in which:

 Individuals at all levels and in all units value each other's contributions and treat each other with respect.

- Individuals in positions of authority serve as role models by promoting courtesy, civility, diversity, and respectful communication.
- Individuals at all levels are allowed to discuss issues of concern in an open and honest manner, without fear of reprisal or retaliation.

For more information, see UNM Policy 2240: <a href="https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2240.html">https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2240.html</a>

## SFI FCTION

UNM sponsored programs participate in the National Residency Matching Program and other specialty matches to fill their positions. The University is an Equal Opportunity employer and makes selections based on the preparedness, ability, aptitude, academic credentials, communication skills, and personal qualities such as motivation and integrity.

Programs do not discriminate with regard to sex, race, age, religion, color, national origin, disability, veteran status, sexual orientation, ancestry, medical conditions or ACGME required status.

## TRANSFER POLICY

Residents and fellows who transfer to the University of New Mexico from another ACGME program must obtain a release from the Program Director at that institution. The Office of GME will assist in verifying prior training. In order to appoint the transferred trainee at the appropriate level, the Program Director at the University of New Mexico must obtain 1) a written verification of previous educational experiences and/or rotations, as well as, 2) a statement regarding performance in the program or copies of performance evaluations prior to the acceptance and appointment at UNM HSC. Trainees who transfer from the UNM HSC to another institution are responsible for providing that institution with verification of educational experiences or completed rotations and a statement regarding performance of the trainee in the program

## **SCHEDULES**

Each program will make call and rotation schedules available to their trainees. All call and rotation schedules must be available through AMION. There must be a process in place by each program will ensure accuracy of the information in AMION.

## NATIONAL PROVIDER IDENTIFIER

National Provider Identifiers are required of all Houseofficers participating in training programs at UNM HSC. The online application is located at <a href="https://nppes.cms.hhs.gov/NPPES/StaticForward.do?forward=static.instruction">https://nppes.cms.hhs.gov/NPPES/StaticForward.do?forward=static.instruction</a>

After the number has been obtained by the Houseofficer, it must be on file with the Office of GME and UNMH.

## USMLE & COMLEX

For physicians, GME requires Step II to be successfully completed by the end of the first year of training (HO I) and Step III to be successfully completed by the end of the second year of training (HO II). Completion of USMLE Step III or COMLEX Level III shall be a requirement for successful completion of the HO II training year. Program Directors in each specialty must monitor Houseofficers' compliance; however, Houseofficers are responsible for ensuring that they have completed the USMLE or COMLEX requirements. Should Houseofficer fail to pass this examination by the end of their HOII year, the program should place Houseofficer on either an Individualized Learning Plan or Remediation. Houseofficers who join the training program and enter above the HO II level are required to have successfully completed USMLE Step III or COMLEX Step III prior to acceptance into a UNM GME training program. Upon successful completion of USMLE Step III or COMLEX Step III, Houseofficers are eligible for reimbursement if completed prior to end of their HO II year, and if attempted during employment at UNM in an ACGME residency program. Houseofficers must apply for reimbursement in their applications within 60 days of paying for exam.

## **USMLE STEP III**

The New Mexico Medical Board <a href="http://www.nmmb.state.nm.us/">http://www.nmmb.state.nm.us/</a> allows UNM Houseofficers to take USMLE Step III after completing their first year of training. The exam is administered by the Federation of State Medical Boards. Applications for the examination can be obtained online at www.fsmb.org or calling (817) 868-4041. The New Mexico Medical Board requires Step III to be taken within seven years of passing Step II. GME will offer assistance with the forms upon request.

#### STANDARDS. RESPONSIBILITIES. AND WORK ENVIRONMENT

UNM HSC will strive to provide a safe and healthy work environment and will comply with ACGME requirements and city, state, and federal health and safety laws.

## DISABILITY ACCOMMODATIONS

The University of New Mexico has a continuing commitment and responsibility to provide equal opportunities and reasonable accommodations to individuals with disabilities. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, and the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008, collectively referred to in this policy as "ADA," protect against disability-based discrimination, as does the New Mexico Human Rights Act.

Under the ADA, the University must provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with a disability who are applicants for employment, active employees, and beneficiaries of University programs, services, and activities, as described in this policy.

For additional information, see UNM Policy 3110 https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/3000/3110.html

## DISCIPLINE OR DISMISSAL

This policy does not apply to discipline or dismissal for alleged administrative misconduct. Please refer to the Grievance Procedure and Disciplinary Action articles in the current Collective Bargaining Agreement between the University of New Mexico and the Committee of Interns and Residents/SEIU regarding discipline or dismissal for alleged administrative misconduct.

Houseofficers shall not be disciplined or discharged under the terms of this policy without just cause. Houseofficers shall be given written notice of any disciplinary action to be taken against them, which shall include a description of the disciplinary action taken or contemplated and a description of the reasons for such action. A copy of the notice of contemplated disciplinary action will be presented to the CIR/SEIU representative assigned to UNM as quickly as practicable. Disciplinary action shall not be reported to the New Mexico Medical Board until the discipline is implemented. A Houseofficer's paycheck shall not be withheld pending contemplated discipline. GME must be notified and consulted with for all proposed or contemplated disciplinary actions.

If the academic performance of a Houseofficer – in domains that include, but are not limited to, clinical skill, medical knowledge, ethics, professionalism, attendance, or compliance with Institutional policies or the law – is unsatisfactory, the Houseofficer may, in the Program Director's discretion, be placed on remediation. In such cases, the Program Director will notify the Houseofficer in writing of the specific areas of unsatisfactory performance and the expectations

for improvement. Remediation is not an adverse action and it is not appealable or grievable.

If, following a period of remediation, the academic performance of a Houseofficer continues to be unsatisfactory, or, in the case of misconduct wherein remediation is deemed inappropriate, the Houseofficer may be placed on probation for a specified period of time. The Program Director will designate the period of probation and identify the areas of deficiency to be corrected during such period. During the probationary period, the Houseofficer must correct the deficiencies; failure to do so may result in further discipline up to and including dismissal from the Houseofficer's training program. The probationary period together should not be less than 30 days in length nor should it normally exceed six months. The Program Director will meet with the Houseofficer as regularly as is practicable during this period to formally review progress.

At the end of the probation period, the Program Director will review the Houseofficer's progress and determine whether satisfactory improvement has been made. Feedback from various sources may be solicited as required to evaluate the Houseofficer's performance. Improvement during the probationary period does not result in an automatic reinstatement to non-probationary status. Rather, even if improvement has been satisfactory, the Houseofficer may, in the Program Director's discretion and in consultation with GME, be continued on probation for a specific period of time not to exceed six months. If the Houseofficer's performance again becomes unsatisfactory during this period or improvement during the period is unsatisfactory, the Houseofficer may be dismissed without an additional probation period even if the probation extended beyond a contract year.

To appeal probation, non-renewal of contract, or dismissal, see the grievance procedure as stated in this Manual. Remediation is not a grievable event nor is it a disciplinary action.

## DRUG FREE CAMPUS

The University of New Mexico is an environment for the pursuit of its educational mission free of illegal drugs and the illegal use of alcohol.

## **Duty Hours**

Duty Hours (also known as clinical education and experience hours) are defined by the ACGME as all clinical activities related to the residency program, i.e., patient care (both inpatient and outpatient), administrative duties related to patient care, the provision for transfer of patient care, time spent in-house during call activities, time at home spent on patient care, clinical work from home, and scheduled academic activities such as conferences. Duty hours do not include reading and preparation time spent away from the duty site.

Each program has a written statement concerning the Houseofficer's duty hours, which will comply with their RC requirements. The ACGME Duty Hours requirements, which are maximum duty hour standards for all residency and fellowship programs (unless granted program specific exemptions by the ACGME and by UNM) are as follows:

- 1. Maximum Hours of Duty Hours per Week 80 Hours rule
- Houseofficers work week must not exceed eighty hours averaged over a fourweek period, inclusive of all in-house clinical and educational activities, clinical work done from home, and all moonlighting.
- 2. Minimum Time Off Between Scheduled Duty Hours Periods ACGME Short Break Rule
- Houseofficers should have eight hours off between scheduled duty hour periods. There may be circumstances when Houseofficers choose to care for their patients or return to the hospital with fewer than eight hours free of clinical experience and education. This must occur within the context of the 80-hour and the one-day-off-in-seven requirements.
- Houseofficers must have 14 hours free of clinical work and education after 24 hours of in-house service.
- 3. Mandatory Time Free of Duty Hour Day off rule
- Houseofficers must receive one day off in seven from all in-house educational and all clinical responsibilities averaged over a four-week period. One day is defined as one continuous 24-hour period free of all clinical, in-house educational and administrative activities. At home call cannot be assigned on these free days.
- 4. Maximum Duty Hour Period Length 24+4 rule
- Duty hour (clinical and educational work) periods for residents must not exceed 24 hours of continuous scheduled clinical assignments. Houseofficers are encouraged to use alertness management strategies in the context of patient care responsibilities.
- Transitions of patient care must occur for patient safety and education. Houseofficers may be allowed to stay on site for an additional 4 hours <u>after</u> a 24-hour duty period to accomplish these tasks or to participate in resident education.
- Each program must have a procedure to ensure continuity of patient care if a Houseofficer is unable to attend to assigned patient care responsibilities.
- Houseofficers must not be assigned additional clinical responsibilities after 24 hours of continuous service.
- In rare circumstances, after handing off all other responsibilities, a Houseofficer, on their own initiative, may elect to remain or return to the clinical site in the following circumstances: to continue to provide care to a single severely ill or

unstable patient; humanistic attention to the needs of a patient or family; or, to attend unique educational events. These additional hours of care or education will be counted toward the 80-hour weekly limit.

## 5. Moonlighting

- Moonlighting must not compromise patient safety, interfere with the ability of the Houseofficer to achieve the goals and objectives of the educational program, or interfere with the Houseofficer's fitness for work.
- Internal and external moonlighting must be counted toward the 80-hour maximum weekly limit.
- 6. Maximum Frequency of In-House Night Float ACGME Night Float Rule
- $\bullet$  Night float must occur within the context of the 80 hour and the 1 day off in 7 requirements.
- 7. Maximum In-House On-Call Frequency ACGME Call Rule Houseofficers must be scheduled for in-house call no more frequently than every third night when averaged over a four-week period.
- 8. At-Home Call
- For call taken from home (pager call), the time the resident spends in the hospital after being called in is counted toward the 80-hour duty requirement as well as the 1 day off in 7 requirement. The ACGME also requires that programs monitor Houseofficers for fatigue and have a mechanism by which the resident may be relieved from work if they are too fatigued to continue.

At this time, no UNM residency program has been granted exemption from these maximum standards. Specific RC Duty Hour regulations (e.g., specialty specific) may be more restrictive than the duty hours standards described above, and those residency programs must have departmental duty hours policy compliant with the standards of their RC.

Each program shall distribute a copy of the departmental duty hours policy to all Houseofficer physicians and faculty. It is the primary responsibility of the sponsoring program to assure compliance with RC duty hours regulations regardless of the Houseofficer's rotation on or off of the service.

Houseofficers shall report duty hours honestly, completely, and correctly in accordance with institutional requirements via New Innovations. All residents and fellows will be required to log duty hours by Tuesday at the beginning of the work day for all hours worked the previous week (Tuesday to Monday). Failure to do so may require the Houseofficer to appear before the Duty Hour Task Force to explain why the Houseofficer cannot comply with institutional policy and procedure.

Also, see (Callrooms, and Taxi Reimbursement Program)

The duty hour policy promotes the educational environment, supports the physical and emotional wellbeing of Houseofficers, and provides for patient safety.

Duty hour reporting is through New Innovations. Houseofficers may also report concerns relating to duty hours anonymously via <a href="https://hsc.unm.edu/school-of-medicine/education/gme/duty-hour-reporting.html">https://hsc.unm.edu/school-of-medicine/education/gme/duty-hour-reporting.html</a>

## DUTY HOUR PROTOCOL

All University of New Mexico ACGME accredited programs, as well as the dental and medical physics programs, must meet the minimum standards set forth by UNM GME as well as achieve and maintain compliance with the resident duty hours for their respective review committee. The Office of Graduate Medical Education will regularly monitor logged clinical experience and education hours for compliance with the institutional clinical experience and education limitations and RC regulations by the use of weekly reporting and the review of data by the GMEC. The GMEC has established the Duty Hour (Clinical Experience and Education Hour Compliance) Task Force, which meets monthly, to review compliance in each program. The following policy outlines the procedures that will be used by the institution.

- 1. The Office of GME will collect and maintain a file of the individual program policies concerning resident duty hours.
- 2. The Office of GME will provide New Innovations as a method for all programs to track Houseofficer clinical experience and education, and all programs will be expected to utilize this standard reporting tool. All residents and fellows will be required to log clinical work and education hours by Tuesday at the beginning of the work day for all hours worked the previous week (Tuesday to Monday). Reports will be generated by the Office of GME through New Innovations to determine compliance. Failure of any Houseofficer to meet this clinical experience and education reporting requirement will result in the Houseofficer appearing before the Clinical Experience and Education Compliance Task Force to explain how they will meet the requirement in the future. Continued failure to report clinical experience and education may result in Houseofficer probation for professional misconduct. The Clinical Experience and Education Compliance Task Force and the GMEC will review clinical experience and education reports based on any area of violation in the ACGME clinical experience and education regulations. This information will be reviewed monthly by the GMEC for compliance and by the Operations Committee for discussion of specific rotation concerns. No residency or fellowship programs will be exempt from having to track this information without the complied consent of the GMEC and the DIO. The Clinical Experience and Education Task Force will review matrixes of alleged clinical experience and education noncompliance in each program. Each

Department will be required to investigate the alleged clinical experience and education violation.

- 3. The Office of GME will request action plans from individual programs concerning individual rotations or Houseofficers that do not comply with RC and institution regulations. The Office of GME will encourage the individual departments to involve Houseofficers in the preparation of these plans. The Office of GME will follow up on a monthly basis concerning progress on these action plans until it appears to be appropriately resolved.
- 4. Any individual (housestaff or faculty) aware of a violation of a duty hours violation should report honestly and accurately. The program must prepare a response plan and provide the Office of GME with an action plan within 72 hours of the report of the violation.
- 5. The institution will maintain a confidential web-based reporting tool for Houseofficers to report clinical experience and education violations (preferred) or Houseofficers may use the HSC Compliance Hotline (1-888-899-6092). Upon notice of such reporting through a) the institutional web site <a href="http://som.unm.edu/education/gme/duty-hour-reporting.html">http://som.unm.edu/education/gme/duty-hour-reporting.html</a>, b) a report through an RC resident survey, or c) a report to the institution from the ACGME, UNM GME will conduct a focused internal review with the Houseofficers participating in various rotations to assess not only compliance with the resident duty hours regulations but also to assess educational aspects, resident fatigue/stress and quality of life issues. Houseofficers can also reach the HSC Compliance Office at <a href="mailto:compliance@salud.unm.edu">compliance@salud.unm.edu</a>.
- 6. The Program Review Committee will include questions concerning resident clinical experience and education during the reviews of the programs. The institutional annual resident survey will solicit information on clinical experience and education compliance. These reports will be included in the summaries submitted to the GMEC. The annual ACGME Resident Survey for each program will be reviewed by the GMEC. The Office of GME, under the direction of the DIO, will submit a report to the Dean of the School of Medicine and the medical staff governing body of each major participating institution annually on resident clinical experience and education compliance.

Houseofficers are required to report duty hours honestly and accurately in New Innovations. In addition, Houseofficers may anonymously report duty hour violations on any rotation at the following reporting site:

http://som.unm.edu/education/gme/duty-hour-reporting.html. This site provides complete confidentiality of the Houseofficer who is making the report. An additional resource for compliance includes the UNM HSC Compliance Hotline at 1-888-899-6092.

## **DUTY HOURS — FATIGUE**

The University recognizes the potential impact of sleep deprivation and fatigue upon Houseofficers. Information on sleep deprivation will be made available to Houseofficers during orientation and through each department.

## TAXI OR PROFESSIONAL RIDE SHARING SERVICES REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM

Houseofficers who feel they are not able to safely drive themselves home after twenty-four hours or more of service may, with notification of the Program Director or attending physician, elect to take a taxi or other professional ride sharing services to their designated home. Reimbursement shall include round trip fares not to exceed fifty dollars (\$50) in total.

## **EVALUATION**

Each program will have a procedure for evaluation of each Houseofficer's performance, which will be in agreement with the specific Review Committee requirements. The ACGME standard for performance evaluations is New Innovations. Written evaluations will be done at the end of each rotation or at a minimum of every three (3) months by an attending physician who has direct, significant educational contact with the Houseofficer.

The program must also do semi-annual evaluations with each Houseofficer. Evaluations should be written and must be discussed with and acknowledged by the Houseofficer. Such evaluation shall include:

- 1. A milestone evaluation based on the 6 ACGME competences.
- An identification of future goals and learning objectives, as well as a plan for achieving these goals and objectives, to create their individualized learning plan.

A plan to advance a trainee to a position of higher responsibility will be done annually on the basis of the trainee's readiness for advancement based on level of achievement of core competencies and specialty milestones. Assessments may be done more often than every six months, particularly if deficiencies are noted. The program will maintain documentation of individual records of written evaluation for each Houseofficer, which shall be available and accessible to the trainee.

Final summary evaluations are performed by each training program at the conclusion of training. The summary evaluation will include the following

"I verify that, during (his/her) participation statement (residency/fellowship) program in (specialty) sponsored by the University of New Mexico School of Medicine, (name of resident/fellow) has demonstrated verify that the resident has demonstrated the knowledge, skills, and behaviors necessary to enter autonomous practice in the specialty of (name of specialty)." A copy of the final summative evaluation of competency is retained by the program as well as the Office of GME. The institution strongly supports and endorses the use of New Innovations Electronic Evaluation System, A copy of any evaluation shall be accessible to the Houseofficer online and placed in his or her file within a reasonable time after completion of a rotation. Houseofficers shall have the right to review any evaluation with the Program Director, Chair, or designee of the Houseofficer's program.

## HARASSMENT POLICY

It is the policy of the institution to prevent and eliminate forms of unlawful harassment in employment and educational settings. The University prohibits harassment of employees by supervisors or co-workers and harassment of students on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, physical or mental disability, age, sex, sexual orientation or gender identity, ancestry, medical condition, spousal affiliation or other protected status. The University makes special efforts to eliminate both overt and subtle forms of sexual harassment.

When University faculty, administrators, and supervisors witness or receive a written or oral report or complaint of discrimination or harassment, they are required to promptly notify the OEO. In order for the University to respond effectively to individuals who have experienced sexual misconduct, all UNM staff and faculty (with specific exceptions noted in the Sexual Misconduct Policy, Section 7, below) who receive information about a person who has experienced sexual misconduct must report the information to OEO within 24 hours, or as soon as reasonably practicable. The University relies on its employees to notify the OEO of all disclosures of discrimination and harassment.

The University encourages all members of the University community to report all known or suspected discriminatory conduct. The University can take corrective action only when it becomes aware of issues. Therefore, it encourages persons who believe they have witnessed or experienced discrimination or harassment to come forward promptly with their inquiries, reports, or complaints.

UNM Office of Equal Opportunity: <a href="mailto:oeounm@unm.edu">oeounm@unm.edu</a>, 277-5251, <a href="https://oeo.unm.edu/">https://oeo.unm.edu/</a>

UNM Sexual Misconduct Policy 2740: <a href="https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2740.html">https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2740.html</a>

UNM Prohibited Discrimination and Equal Opportunity Policy 2720: <a href="https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2720.html">https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2720.html</a>

## MOONLIGHTING

Moonlighting activities, whether internal or external, must be consistent with sufficient time for rest and restoration to promote resident educational experience, well-being, and patient safety. Program Directors will closely monitor moonlighting activities to ensure they do not interfere with the Houseofficer's ability to achieve the goals and objectives of the educational program. Internal Moonlighting is considered to be moonlighting at all UNM HSC facilities. For example, some departments will allow Houseofficers to take extra call or provide extra service in their department and compensate them for it (through special compensation forms). These hours must count toward the 80-hour work week and be logged in New Innovations.

External Moonlighting is moonlighting at any institution that is not a required rotation or funding source for UNM GME Programs. External Moonlighting cannot be done at the same institution that is funding the rotation. External Moonlighting may be done through and paid for by UNM Locum Tenens. These hours must be counted and must be logged into New Innovations toward the 80 hours work week. All internal and external moonlighting (as defined in the ACGME Glossary of Terms) will be counted toward the 80-hour maximum weekly limit (averaged over a 4-week period) and must be reported. Residents are responsible for reporting moonlighting hours. Failure to do so is consider professional misconduct. Program Directors are responsible for monitoring fatigue that might be a result of this moonlighting. If it is determined that moonlighting affects a Houseofficer's performance, the Houseofficer's ability to moonlight may be limited or eliminated.

Permission forms for moonlighting (both internal and external) are available in the GME Office. This form must be signed annually by the Program Director and must be on file in the GME Office prior to any moonlighting. Individual departments may have specific policies defining and/or denying moonlighting privileges. Moonlighting privileges cannot be used for the formation of one's own practice. Residents who hold J-1 visas are prohibited from internal or external moonlighting by the sponsor (ECFMG). No trainee can be required to moonlight. Interns are not permitted to moonlight.

Programs are bound by Review Committee requirements for duty hours and educational content and environment. It is recommended off site moonlighting experiences be coordinated through the UNM Locum Tenens program. The Locum Tenens program assists the Houseofficer in the process of licensing and credentialing. If the moonlighting is conducted through the UNM Locum Tenens,

Professional liability is covered, and compensation is paid through the UNM payroll system thus minimizing any unplanned tax liabilities. If the moonlighting is not through the UNM Locum Tenens, then professional liability is not covered, and compensation is not paid through UNM payroll system. The Houseofficer's Program Director must sign each special compensation form prior to payment. The University and the Houseofficer agree to abide by the Association of American Medical Colleges' statement on moonlighting by Houseofficers (memorandum 74-21, July 1, 1974); see below.

## AAMC STATEMENT ON MOONLIGHTING BY HOUSEOFFICERS

Graduate medical education should be a full-time educational experience. Houseofficers should not be diverted from their primary responsibilities to their own education and to the patients charged to their care by the training institution by engaging in extramural professional activities. Therefore, as a matter of general principle, the Association of American Medical Colleges believes that "moonlighting" by Houseofficers is inconsistent with the education objectives of Houseofficer's training and is therefore a practice to be discouraged. For those institutions that permit moonlighting, great care should be taken to preserve the educational character of their graduate medical education programs. The following general guidelines are recommended as the means by which the primary training institutions should monitor and control this practice.

- 1. The hospital governing board or executive committee of the faculty having responsibility for medical standards in the educational setting, should administer the authority to approve or disapprove "moonlighting" in the individual case. This authority may be delegated to the service chief or other individual who controls the content and quality of each training program.
- 2. In evaluating the content and quality of the training program for each Houseofficer, consideration should be given to the following:
  - The capacity of the Houseofficer to fulfill his educational objectives while at the same time pursuing additional work opportunities for income:
  - The nature of the work opportunity, including its educational value;
  - The needs of the community; and
  - The financial need of the individual.
- 3. Moonlighting by incumbents of internship and residencies approved by the Accreditation Council on Graduate Medical Education, may be permitted only if those activities are reviewed and approved by the person(s) responsible for the individual's graduate training program. Houseofficers should be informed of the substance of this provision prior to appointment.

 The ACGME may take the necessary steps in its process of approval of graduate medical education programs to assure compliance with the above guidelines.

## NON COMPETITION CLAUSE (RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS)

Houseofficers are not subject to the UNM HSC non-competition clause.

## NON-RENEWAL OF CONTRACT

All Houseofficers shall be notified in writing no less than four (4) months prior to the end of their annual contract year if their contract is to be non-renewed or if they will not be promoted to the next level of training. If primary reason(s) for the non-renewal or non-promotion occur(s) within the four (4) months prior to the end of the Agreement, or in the case of Houseofficers with a contract for less than twelve (12) months, UNM will provide as much written notice of the intent not to renew or not to promote, prior to the end of the contract, as the circumstances will reasonably allow. Determination regarding a decision not to renew a contract will be made by the Program Director in consultation with the Department Chair and the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education.

## PHYSICIAN IMPAIRMENT

All persons enrolled in UNM Graduate Medical Education programs are responsible for ensuring that patient safety is maintained at all times. As a result, UNM Graduate Medical Education programs and its affiliated hospitals are drug free and alcohol free campuses. This Physician Impairment policy is adopted pursuant to UNM Graduate Medical Education's obligation to maintain a high standard of patient care and safety. Any violation of this policy may result in discipline up to and including immediate termination from our Graduate Medical Education programs. HSOs are strongly encouraged to self-disclose impairments to their Program Directors and/or the Office of GME. No Houseofficer shall be disciplined or terminated for self-disclosing and seeking voluntary treatment. This disciplinary safe harbor does not extend to impairment or dependence discovered other than by self-disclosure, nor does it extend to discipline for conduct, behavior, actions, or omission while impaired or dependent. Investigation and disposition of a Houseofficer suspected of impairment, including, but not limited to alcohol, drug, or chemical dependence, medical, or psychological impairment, are outlined in the UNM Physician Impairment and Substance Abuse Policy. If the Houseofficer is rotating at an affiliated hospital, the Houseofficer may be additionally subject to the policy and procedures of the affiliated hospital for impaired physicians.

## Physician Impairment and Substance Abuse Policy

"Impairment," "impaired," "impair," and any and all forms of the word as used in this Article includes but is not limited to: alcohol, drug, or chemical dependency, use, or abuse regardless of whether such substance is prescribed for a medically-recognized physical, mental, or other condition, medical, or psychological impairment if it impairs the HSO's ability to competently and safely perform, even to the slightest degree, his or her duties within the commonly accepted practice standards.

"Substance abuse" refers to the use of an illicit substance or misuse of a licit substance regardless of whether prescribed for a medically recognized condition or not. HSOs are permitted to take valid prescriptions and over-the-counter medications consistent with appropriate medical treatment plans while performing their duties. When the prescribed or over-the-counter drug therapies affect the employee's job performance, safety, or the efficient operation of the hospital, the HSO may be required to submit to a fitness for duty evaluation.

In the event a Houseofficer becomes impaired during the training program, the Houseofficer may exhaust any and all accrued annual, sick, and available catastrophic leave to voluntarily seek and participate in a treatment program directly related to such impairment. No Houseofficer will be disciplined or terminated for self-disclosing and seeking such voluntary treatment

Houseofficers, who self-disclose impairment, will be, at the discretion of the Program Director and/or the Office of Graduate Medical Education, be referred to the New Mexico Monitored Treatment Program ("MTP") for evaluation and development of an appropriate treatment plan. Based on recommendations of the MTP, Houseofficers participating in MTP-designed treatment plans may have their work schedules and training schedules modified depending on the circumstances, the needs of the University to maintain patient care and safety, and whether such modifications present an undue hardship to the University, among other factors to be considered.

#### INVESTIGATION AND DISPOSITION OF SUSPECTED IMPAIRMENT

During the training period, if a person detects signs of possible substance abuse and/or impairment in a Houseofficer (including but not limited to behavioral changes, alcohol on breath, display of use of alcohol, marijuana or other depressant, stimulant, or mind-altering chemical, discovery of possession or use of illegal or improperly-possessed or used substances, unprofessional or unethical acts or behavior, etc.), the attending physician, Graduate Medical Education, and/or the Department Chair, Division Chief, or Program Director, upon notification of same, will meet with Houseofficer suspected of impairment and advise him/her of the situation, may send the employee for testing (dependent on the situation), and will immediately place the Houseofficer suspected of

impairment on administrative leave pending investigation into the suspected impairment. A Houseofficer may also be subject to the hospital or healthcare facility's policies and procedures for drug testing, if assigned to one of these facilities.

If recommended for testing, the Houseofficer will be accompanied to the testing by appropriate personnel. The immediate investigation may include a possible search as part of the process. The individual supervising the immediate investigation will notify the Houseofficer's Program Director and Division Chief or Department Chair and the Associate Dean for GME as soon as practical and contact UNM PD if the Houseofficer is threatening, violent, or are at risk of harm to self or others. Arrangements for safe transportation home will be made. Failure of the Houseofficer to comply with the recommendation and/or arrangement for testing may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

In the event of a positive test result, the Houseofficer may be referred to the New Mexico Monitored Treatment Program (MTP, also known as the New Mexico Health Professional Wellness Program) for evaluation and development of an appropriate treatment plan. In addition, in the event of a positive test result, the University may conduct an investigation into the suspected impairment. In the case of a negative test result, the Houseofficer's suspected impairment may still be investigated. During the investigation, the Houseofficer's placement on administrative leave may continue. Failure to comply or cooperate with such investigation may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. Such investigation may include further testing, medical or psychiatric evaluation, or other appropriate evaluations.

Placement on administrative leave may also, depending on the circumstances, continue until MTP develops an appropriate treatment plan, and the Houseofficer and the University accept such recommended treatment plan. Continuation or resumption of participation in Graduate Medical Education programs will be based on the nature of the suspected impairment, the recommendation of MTP, the result of the University's investigation into the suspected impairment, the evaluation of patient safety concerns by the Program Director and the Office of GME and any other relevant parties, a fitness for duty evaluation by medical and/or psychiatric professionals as appropriate, and any other relevant factor, in accordance with the hospital's policies on physician impairment. Failure of a Houseofficer to comply with MTP recommendations or fitness for duty evaluations, a recurrence of impairment, failure, or refusal to cooperate with the University's investigation and disposition of suspected impairment (whether or not the non-compliant or non-cooperative Houseofficer is the subject of the investigation) may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

In situations where a Houseofficer's physical or mental health or personal safety is a concern or where the Houseofficer presents a safety concern to others, the

Houseofficer will be placed on administrative leave and referred for appropriate psychiatric and medical evaluations. Failure or refusal to comply with such referral may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. At such time that the Houseofficer no longer presents a health or safety concern as determined by the circumstances, the Program Director and the Associate Dean for GME will assess the Houseofficer's ability to resume participation in Graduate Medical Education programs. Depending on the circumstances, the needs of the University, and any other relevant factor, a modified schedule may be implemented. In parallel, evaluation of the Houseofficer for suspected alcohol and/or substance abuse may proceed pursuant to the procedure provided for herein.

In the event of a false or malicious accusation of impairment, GME will work with the individual resident and their program to take appropriate restorative measures.

Houseofficers on administrative leave are expected to comply with the reasonable requests of their Program Director, Program Coordinator, and the GME office in a timely and professional manner. All Houseofficers on administrative leave must make reasonable efforts to maintain communication with their Program Director, Program Coordinator, and the GME office unless reasonable exigent circumstances exist to prevent such communication. In the event a Houseofficer claims that exigent circumstances exist during the Houseofficer's period of administrative leave that prevent or impede their ability to so communicate, the Houseofficer will be required to provide sufficient proof of such exigent circumstances and propose a plan for which reasonable, timely, and professional communications may occur. A Houseofficer's failure to maintain such communication while on administrative leave may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. Should a resident be investigated for impairment, the reason for being put on leave will be recorded as medical or administrative leave on a need-to-know basis, depending on situation.

If the Houseofficer's impairment persists or recurs, the University may:

- Issue the Houseofficer discipline up to and including termination;
- Identify treatment options and refer the Houseofficer to such treatment as appropriate;
- Notify the New Mexico Medical Board; and
- Take any other action deemed necessary.

Impairment and substance abuse constitute administrative misconduct as defined in the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the University of New Mexico and the Committee of Interns and Residents/SEIU and are thus subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth in the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

## CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

Houseofficers are responsible for professional conduct in all activities as outlined in the University of New Mexico Code of Conduct Policy (Policy 3720) and University of New Mexico HSC policy on Professionalism for students, residents, and faculty (Statement from UNM HSC Medical Executive Committee). Houseofficers are responsible for serving as a role model for medical students and other Housestaff and must understand that their behavior is a powerful means for educating others. Violations of this policy and the policies referred to herein may result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from the Houseofficer's training program. Violations of this policy and the policies referred to herein are subject to the grievance procedure as stated in this Manual. Nothing in this Manual, the University of New Mexico Business Policies and Procedures Manual, or the University of New Mexico HSC Policy on Professionalism shall be construed as granting Houseofficers any rights, benefits, or privileges not explicitly provided for in this Manual or the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the University of New Mexico and the Committee of Interns and Residents/SEIU.

Professionalism expectations of all residents include, but are not limited to: logging duty hours and procedures in a timely and accurate fashion, completing required trainings and surveys, didactic attendance, cooperating with investigations, providing timely and complete medical documentations, responding to emails in a timely fashion, and demonstrating respectful interactions with other medical professionals and learners, program and hospital staff, patients and families.

#### PROFFSSIONAL ATTIRE

Houseofficers are expected to dress and appear in a professional manner at all times when on duty of the hospital or other clinical setting. Houseofficers' dress should present an appearance consistent with their daily activities that engenders a sense of confidence, trust, and meets customer and patient expectations. Houseofficers are expected to comply with professional attire policy of the hospital in which they are rotating. Individual departments may have additional or specific requirements for professional attire. Dress must comply with Joint Commission, OSHA and other federal standards.

#### **PROMOTION**

In the event that academic deficiency is noted, the Houseofficer will be informed. Written recommendations will be made identifying measures to be taken in order to correct the deficiency. A time frame will be given within which correction is to be made. If there is question regarding promotion to the next level of training, the

Houseofficer will be notified in writing at least four (4) months prior to the contract end date, or with as much notice as is reasonably practicable if the circumstance leading to the non-promotion occurs within 4 months of the end of the contract date. Written receipt will be required from the trainee.

#### REAPPOINTMENT

For reappointment to the next higher level of training, each Houseofficer must complete a new contractual agreement (UNM SOM GME Agreement) and have been recommended by their department for promotion to the next level of training. Determination regarding a decision not to reappoint will be made by the Program Director in consultation with the Department Chair and the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education.

#### **CERTIFICATION**

To receive a certificate of successful completion of a program, a trainee must satisfactorily complete programmatic, administrative, patient care and educational requirements and competency expectations. An appropriate certification shall be issued within one month of each Houseofficer's satisfactory completion of his or her training program or part thereof.

#### HOUSEOFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES

Responsibilities of Houseofficers at the University of New Mexico are detailed in the UNM School of Medicine Graduate Medical Education Agreement. They include, but are not limited to: patient services, education activities and seminars, teaching and supervision of other Houseofficers and medical students, orientation, committee participation, providing documentation of good physical health, CPR certification, places and hours of duty, standards of performance, and compliance with rules and policies of training sites. All Houseofficers shall conduct themselves in a manner that justifies the confidence placed in them by the citizens of the State of New Mexico and shall at all times maintain the integrity and ethics in accordance with the high responsibilities of public service. Any changes in the rotation request require a three-month prior notice and the permission of all affected parties. Individual programs will have additional specific responsibilities that are to be written and given to Houseofficers at the start of their training. Houseofficers should be familiar with UNM HSC Medical Staff policies and procedures found online at:

https://hospitals.health.unm.edu/intranet7/apps/doc management/index.cfm?project\_id=1

Each Houseofficer will be provided with a copy of their RC (Review Committee) Program Requirements by their Department and are provided with goals and

objectives for their residency and rotation. The information is available for RRC program requirements and are online at www.acgme.org.

#### RESIDENTS' SOCIAL NETWORKING GUIDELINES

The University of New Mexico recognizes the benefits of social networking; however, materials posted on personal websites may be discovered by others. Houseofficer information concerning individual patients, including records, images, or other materials that include any identifiable individual information, may NOT be posted on websites. Houseofficers shall also recognize that personal information and photos may be discovered by future employers. Medical schools, residency programs, potential employers, and even law enforcement are known to monitor social networking sites for inappropriate materials and behaviors, and it is to be expected that unprofessional information will be held against you in a variety of contexts. As a physician, your ability to maintain a professional image and reputation impacts your career.

The following guidelines are basic, but essential minimums regarding your online conduct under all circumstances (including in personal use of social media):

- DO NOT post patient information or images of procedures that could be a potential HIPAA violation.
- DO NOT badmouth colleagues, boss, or the company you work for.
   (Always assume that this information will reach them. Nothing ever disappears from the internet). Be sure that you are not performing such activities from a University computer or during work hours. (See University Policy 2500 <a href="https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2500.html">https://policy.unm.edu/university-policies/2000/2500.html</a>.
- DO NOT complain about lack of motivation, workload, or anything you see as a "waste of your talents".
- DO NOT claim to have family emergencies and sick days when you do not (Assume you will be time stamped and tagged in all of your friends' party pictures.)
- DO NOT talk about illegal activities or even legal but inappropriate activities.
- ALWAYS ASSUME everyone can see what you are writing, or that it will
  make its way to them at some point.

Check your security setting. They change often. Your career and professional reputation may depend on keeping your privacy protected.

When considering a professional versus personal online profile, prudent disclosure is essential. Keep in mind the following guidelines: Information on online profiling should be kept to a bare minimum on your professional profiles.

Your professional profile (e.g., on LinkedIn or other professional networking site) should include information such as:

- Name
- Professional/work contact information
- Education
- Links to Professional and job-related content
- Benign Hobbies
- Professional or benign Profile photo

### SUPERVISION — HSC POLICY

Careful supervision and observation are required to determine the trainee's abilities to perform technical and interpretive procedures and to manage patients. Supervision of trainees should be designed to provide gradually increased responsibility and maturation into the role of a judgmentally sound, technically skilled, and independently functioning, credentialed professional.

It is the policy of the Medical Staff of the University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center to provide guidance to attending UNM HSC Medical Staff members to ensure that the patient care provided by trainee physicians under their supervision is appropriate and of the highest quality and safety. Supervision of trainees in a clinical training program requires balancing multiple different institutional missions and goals while at the same time ensuring the progressive acquisition of skills necessary for independent practice at the completion of graduate medical education. Included among these goals are adherence to sound ACGME (Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education), and individual RC (Review Committee) and CDA (Council on Dental Accreditation) educational principles and guidelines for graduated clinical responsibility, adherence to regulatory guidelines as set forth by, but not limited to CMS (Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services) and TJC (Joint Commission) (and others), commitment to ensuring patient safety and providing the highest quality care to our patients, and meeting the risk management and financial goals of the institution.

### **Policy Cross-References**

UNM HSC Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, UNM HSC Documentation of Clinical Activities by Medical Staff and House Staff, TJC Medical Staff Standard, MS 6.9, ACGME Accreditation Standards.

## **Purpose**

The purpose of this policy is to specify the mechanisms by which trainee physicians and dentists are supervised by members of the University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center (UNM HSC) Medical Staff, and to establish guidelines for medical staff member supervision of trainees for all inpatient and outpatient care. This policy establishes the minimal requirements for trainee supervision at the teaching hospitals of The University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center (UNM HSC). A UNM HSC teaching hospital or individual training program may have additional requirements for trainee supervision as they pertain to that specific hospital or training program.

## **GENERAL PROCEDURE**

The UNM HSC Medical Staff member is responsible for all aspects of the care provided by trainees to individual patients in both the inpatient and outpatient settings. It is expected that the medical staff member will maintain active personal involvement in the care of each patient under his/her direct or consultative care and will document according to policy.

#### Section I. Procedures

Trainees will be supervised by credentialed and privileged clinical faculty who are licensed independent practitioners on the UNM HSC Medical Staff. The medical staff member must be privileged for the specialty care and diagnostic and therapeutic procedures that they are supervising. In this setting, the supervising medical staff member is ultimately responsible for the care of the patient.

At least annually, each UNM HSC Residency and Fellowship Program Director will review the ACGME specialty procedural requirements and list of trainee clinical activities and make changes to the program's requirements. Program Directors of ACGME-accredited programs will submit their updated listing of clinical activities to the Office of the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education (GME), and to the UNM HSC Office of Clinical Affairs for review. Program Directors of non-ACGME programs will submit their updated listing of clinical activities to the appropriate department chairperson or departmental committee for approval and then submit the approved guidelines to the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education and to the UNM HSC Office of Clinical Affairs for review.

The Program Director will ensure that all supervision guidelines are distributed to and followed by trainees and the Medical Staff supervising the trainees. Compliance with the UNM HSC Medical Staff Supervision of Physicians and Dentists in Training Policy will be monitored by the Program Directors.

## Section II. Supervision of Trainees in the Inpatient Setting

All lines of authority for inpatient care delivered by inpatient ward or ICU teams will be directed to a credentialed and privileged medical staff member. The medical staff member has the primary responsibility for the medical diagnosis and treatment of the patient.

## Section III. Supervision of Trainees on Inpatient Consult Teams

All inpatient consultations performed by trainees will be documented in writing, with the name of the responsible medical staff member/consultant recorded. The responsible medical staff member/consultant must be notified verbally by the trainee doing the consult at the time of the consult. The consulting medical staff member is responsible for all the recommendations made by the consultant team.

## Section IV. Supervision of Trainees in Outpatient Clinics

All outpatient visits provided by trainees will be conducted under the supervision of a medical staff member who is physically present in the clinic. This medical staff member will interview and examine the patient at the discretion of the medical staff member, at the trainee's request, or at the patient's request. The medical staff member has full responsibility for care provided, whether or not he/she chooses to verify personally the interview or examination.

## Section V. Supervision of Trainees in the Emergency Department

The responsibility for supervision of trainees providing care in the Emergency Department (ED) to patients who are not admitted to the hospital will be identical to that outlined for outpatient supervision above. The responsibility for supervision of trainees who are called in consultation on patients in the ED will be identical to that outlined in section III above. Consulting medical staff members should be notified at the time of the ED consultation. Contact of a trainee for the sole purpose of arranging a follow-up visit does not require the notification of the medical staff member.

## Section VI. Supervision of Trainees Performing Operative and Procedural Suite Procedures

Operative, therapeutic and diagnostic procedures involving appreciable risk of morbidity or mortality performed by trainees require active Medical Staff member/ involvement. This includes involvement in the pre-procedural evaluation, decision-making, and planning processes, as well as the actual performance of such procedures. This involvement will be documented in the medical record. Appropriate personal supervision based on the trainee's level of training and experience will be provided during performance of the procedure. At a minimum, this requires Medical Staff member presence/availability within the operative/ procedural suite or Health Sciences Center Complex (if immediately available within 5 minutes) during non-key portions of the procedure, and physical presence at the patient's bedside in the operating room or procedural

suite during key portions of the procedure. The level of supervision provided by the Medical Staff member/ will be documented in the procedural note.

## Section VII. Supervision of Trainees Performing Procedures in Locations Other Than OR or PS

Each Program Director will identify those procedures commonly performed in locations other than Operating or Procedural Suites by trainees in that program. This listing will be maintained by each program in New Innvoations. Procedures common to many training programs would include, but are not limited to, the following:

Endotracheal intubation; Cardioversion/defibrillation; Chest tube insertion; Lumbar puncture; Centeses; Incision and drainage; Wound debridement; Peritoneal lavage; Arterial line insertion; Central venous access; Moderate sedation; Adult medical resuscitation; Pediatric medical resuscitation; Vaginal delivery; Laceration repair; Skin biopsies; Endoscopies.

Each Program Director will regularly review each trainee's experience and training in such procedures as part of that trainee's performance evaluation, and will determine whether that trainee is required to perform each procedure with "direct, physical supervision", immediate medical staff availability or by general supervision by a responsible attending. "Direct, physical supervision" may be performed by credentialed clinical faculty who are licensed independent practitioners on the medical staff of the UNM HSC teaching hospital, or by other trainees who have been approved to perform such procedures with general supervision by an attending. The procedure specific listing of "minimum level of clinical faculty supervision" for each trainee will be documented and updated at least annually by each GME Program Director, and will be submitted by the GME Program Director to the Office of Clinical Affairs, which will maintain this documentation in a manner that facilitates timely access by other clinicians, consistent with IC guidelines.

## Section VIII. Specialty-Specific Additions or Exceptions to This Policy

Any additions or exceptions to the requirements of this Medical Staff Policy that a department/division or specialty may require should be submitted in writing to the Associate Dean for Clinical Affairs and to the Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education for their review and approval.

In an emergency, a trainee may provide immediate care including the performance of invasive procedures (assisted by available Health Sciences Center staff) necessary to preserve life or prevent serious impairment for any patient under the trainee physician's care. The appropriate medical staff member will be contacted and apprised of the situation as soon as is practical and possible, and the discussion will be documented in the medical record.

#### GRADUATED LEVELS OF SUPERVISION

Houseofficers must be supervised by teaching staff in a way that assumes progressively increased responsibilities throughout the course of training according to their level of education, ability and experience. PGY-1 residents must be supervised either directly or indirectly with direct supervision immediately available. Each program must have a policy that outlines the type and level of supervision for each level of training in a program that is consistent with the RC requirements for the particular program, and ACGME common program requirements. A copy of each department's policy on graduated levels of supervision must be included in their program manual and a copy must be on file in the Office of Graduate Medical Education. Each program will have a policy statement on circumstances under with an attending is to be called.

## HAND OFFS/TRANSFER OF PATIENT CARE

Each program will be responsible for the development of a procedure/guideline for patient hand offs to ensure timely, efficient, and safe transfer of patient care. The procedure/guidelines must be available to all Houseofficers at the program level and copies should be on file in the Office of GME. A schedule of attending physicians and residents responsible for each patient's care must be provided by each program to the appropriate hospital entity.

## RESIDENT COUNCIL

Houseofficers are represented by the GME Resident Council. The Resident Council is a peer-selected organization. The Committee meets the first Tuesday of each month with representatives from all programs. The Resident Council elects chairs who serve on the GMEC and the MEC (Medical Education Council). Houseofficers interested in joining this or other institutional committees should contact the Office of GME.

#### **VOLUNTEERING**

## Resident Volunteer Activities are defined as:

Unpaid clinical activity on behalf of a non-profit organization other than UNM or UNMH. Volunteer activity is not required by the UNM GME program. Volunteer activity must be limited to non-profit organizations and typically involves provision of medical services to underserved, vulnerable populations, away from the UNM Health Sciences Center or UNM campus.

## Types of Volunteer Activity:

The following is a list of current volunteer activities. Any additional activities should to be reviewed and approved by the UNM GME office.

- Clinical activities in non-UNM Facilities (i.e., Healthcare for the Homeless)
- Sports physicians (ball games)
- School physicals
- Camp physician (diabetic, asthma, cancer, etc.)
- Community Projects

#### **Volunteer Activity Requirements**

All resident clinical volunteer activities that will occur under the auspices of the UNM are subject to the following requirements:

- Approval of activity by the Program Director and the Chair of the resident's department.
- A written description of the resident's activity, supervision and rationale for inclusion in the resident's training activity. The written description is to be signed by the Chair of the Department and placed in the resident's residency file.
- Appropriate recording of patient care interactions is ultimately the duty of the supervising physician.
- Compliance with HIPAA regulations.
- A signature by the resident acknowledging the above summary and agreeing to the limitations specified and agreeing to wear a name tag that identifies the resident as a UNM resident.
- A designation of a supervising faculty who will be available on-site or by telephone to assist the resident during the volunteer activity. A resident cannot supervise students without a supervising physician in person or available immediately by phone.
- A copy of this agreement will be sent to UNM Graduate Medical Education (GME) office and placed in the resident's residency file.

#### WORK FNVIRONMENT

The Graduate Medical Education program is educational and is not designed to replace, nor will it result in the replacement of, employees of the training sites nor will it impair existing contract for services. Houseofficers will not take the place of training sites regular personnel in providing healthcare services to patients and will not provide full and complete technical and or professional direction of patient care but will participate in such care with the medical staff of each training site. Educational experiences will not be compromised by excessive reliance on Houseofficers to fulfill non-physician service obligations.

Safe, quiet, clean, and private sleep/rest facilities will be made available and accessible for residents, with proximity appropriate for safe patient care.

The University strives to have the work environment be compatible with and conducive to the educational mission of the GME training program. Houseofficers are to be able to be free of harassment while training. The work environment is drug and smoke free. Equipment is available to meet federal compliance standards including OSHA. Accommodations will be made under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

Mechanisms are available within the institutions, as outlined in this handbook under Confidential counseling, and other support services, so that you may raise and resolve issues without fear of retaliation. Concerns should be reported to the Program Director, Resident Council, OEO, or the GME Office. Should the Houseofficer have concerns about adverse consequences, the issues can be addressed with the Associate or Assistant Deans of GME. The GME Office has an open-door policy and may try to advise or mediate on behalf of the Houseofficers.

This handbook documents current policies as of July 2019. Changes and additions are subject to unionization changes, and, if not clarified at the time of this publication will be posted on the New Innovations.

## COMMITTEE OF INTERNS AND RESIDENTS

Residents at the University of New Mexico HSC are covered under a collective bargaining agreement. Houseofficers are eligible for membership in the Committee of Interns and Residents. For more information, please contact your local union representative or 800-CIR-8877 or www.cirseiu.org

# **INDEX**

<b>403(b) PLAN</b> 35	FALSE CLAIMS ACT (Deficit	
AAMC STATEMENT ON	Reduction Act)	42
MOONLIGHTING BY	FAMILY LEAVE2	
HOUSEOFFICERS70	FINGERPRINTING/BACKGROUND	
ACCESS TO FILES35	SCREEN/SECURITY5	55
ACLS CERTIFICATION9	FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS 2	
ACLS/BLS/PALS/ATLS9	FOOD SERVICE (MEALS) ON CALL/	١N
ADDITIONAL GME WEB BASED	HOUSE2	
CURRICULUM EDUCATIONAL	GENERAL PROCEDURE	79
RESOURCES/WEB SITE	GME EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS	
BOOKMARKS11	GME EDUCATIONAL	
ANNUAL INFLUENZA VACCINATION	RESOURCES/PROGRAMS	I C
22	GRADUATED LEVELS OF	
<b>ANNUAL LEAVE</b> 16	SUPERVISION	32
ATTORNEY CONTACT (by Outside	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	42
Attorneys Not Representing	HAND OFFS/TRANSFER OF PATIENT	
UNM)36	CARE	32
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE17	HARASSMENT POLICY	
BLS CERTIFICATION10	HEALTH INSURANCE	
BOARD ELIGIBILITY50	HEPATITIS B	
<b>CALLROOMS</b> 24	VACCINE/VARICELLA/MEASLES	/I
CATASTROPHIC LEAVE18	NFLUENZA	
CERTIFICATION76	HIPAA	45
COBRA COVERAGE12	HIV/HEPATITIS C/HEPATITIS B	
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT	HOLIDAYS	19
75	HOUSEOFFICER EXCLUSIONS FROM	١
COMMITTEE OF INTERNS AND	FEDERAL PROGRAMS (OIG/GSA	(۱
<b>RESIDENTS</b> 84		54
COMPLAINTS/LEARNER38	HOUSEOFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES7	76
COMPLAINTS/RESPONSIBILITY OF	HOUSEOFFICERS AND THE	
ASSOCIATE DEAN/GME37	<u>UNIVERSITY</u>	. 9
COMPLETION OF TRAINING50	HSC IDENTIFICATION	46
COMPUTER SERVICES25	IMMUNIZATION/MEDICAL	
CONFIDENTIAL COUNSELING AND	CLEARANCE2	
OTHER SUPPORT SERVICES25	INFECTION CONTROL	46
<b>CREDIT UNION</b> 33	INSTITUTIONAL DEA	
DENTAL INSURANCE12	NUMBER/PRESCRIPTION WRITING	
DISABILITY ACCOMMODATIONS61		55
DISABILITY INSURANCE13	INSURANCE	12
DISASTER POLICY40	INVESTIGATION AND DISPOSITION	
DISCIPLINE OR DISMISSAL61	OF SUSPECTED IMPAIRMENT 7	
DRUG FREE CAMPUS62	LACTATION STATION2	
DRUG CORFELINIO 50	<u>LEAVE</u>	15
DRUG SCREENING53		
<b>DUTY HOURS</b> 62	LEAVE OF ABSENCE — LEAVE	
<b>DUTY HOURS</b> 62 <b>DUTY HOURS</b> — <b>FATIGUE</b> 67	WITHOUT PAY	
DUTY HOURS         62           DUTY HOURS — FATIGUE         67           DUTY HOURS PROTOCOL         65	WITHOUT PAY	27
DUTY HOURS	WITHOUT PAY	27
DUTY HOURS       .62         DUTY HOURS — FATIGUE       .67         DUTY HOURS PROTOCOL       .65         EDUCATIONAL LEAVE       .18         EMERGENCY LOANS       .26	WITHOUT PAY	27 56 56
DUTY HOURS	WITHOUT PAY	27 56 56

LIVING QUARTERS	
LOANS	30
MANDATED BEHAVIORAL	
ASSESSMENT AND COUNSELING	
	47
MATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE	20
MEDICAL CLEARANCE	
MEDICAL EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS	30
MEDITATION ROOM	
MILEAGE	31
MILITARY LEAVE	21
MISC BENEFITS	
MOONLIGHTING	
NATIONAL PROVIDER IDENTIFIER	60
NON COMPETITION CLAUSE	
(RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS)	
NON RENEWAL OF CONTRACT	
OSHA TRAINING	49
PAGERS	
PALS CERTIFICATION	10
PARKING	
PAYROLL ADVANCES	33
PERSONNEL — BENEFITS	58
PLAGIARISM POLICY	57
PRE-TAX INSURANCE PREMIUM	
PLAN	14
PROCEDURES	35
PROFESSIONAL ATTIRE	75
PROFESSIONAL LEAVE	
PROMOTION	75
REAPPOINTMENT	76

REQUIREMENTS	
<b>RESIDENT REDUCTION — CLOSUR</b>	<b>E</b> 52
SAFETY/SECURITY	33
SCHEDULES	59
SELECTION	59
SICK LEAVE	21
STANDARDS, RESPONSIBILITIES, A	ND
WORK ENVIRONMENT	
STUDENT LOAN DEFERMENTS	34
SUPERVISION — HSC POLICY	78
SUPPORT	
SERVICE/ORGANIZATIONAL	
AFFILIATION	82
TAXI REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM	
TRANSFER POLICY	
TUBERCULOSIS TESTING/TST	24
TUITION REIMBURSEMENT	34
UNIFORMS	35
USMLE	60
USMLE STEP III	60
VETERANS EDUCATIONAL	
<b>ASSISTANCE</b> 29	, 35
VISION INSURANCE	15
VOLUNTEERING	
WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION AN	D
REPORTING SUSPECTED	
MISCONDUCT AND RETAILATION	
	50
WORK ENVIRONMENT	83
WORKERS' COMPENSATION	15



#### PRODUCED BY:

THE OFFICE OF GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION MSC 11 6093

1 UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO
HEALTH SCIENCES CENTER \* SCHOOL OF MEDICINE
ALBUQUERQUE, NEW MEXICO 87131-0001
PHONE: 505/272-6225 \* FAX: 505/272-5184

Last updated: June 2019